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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

JAMES ZOLLICOFFERand NORMAN )
GREEN on behalf othemselvesandsimilarly )
situated laborers )
)
Plaintiffs, )
) No. 13 C 1524

V. )

) JudgeSara L. Ellis
GOLD STANDARD BAKING, INC, )

PERSONNEL STAFFING GROUP, LLC d/b/a
MOST VALUABLE PERSONNEL d/b/a MVP)

)

Defendants. )

OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiffs Norman GreeandJames Zollicoffet individually and on behalf of oén
similarly situated job applicantbgelieving that Defendants Gold Standard Baking, IM6SB’)
and Personnel Staffing Group, LLC, doing business as Most Valuable Persdmvier);'
systematically steered African Americans away from work assignments at GSB becaudiel GSB
not want African American worketsingthis putative class action alleging race disanation
in violation of42 U.S.C. § 1981Plaintiffs now move to certify a cla®f AfricanAmericans
who sought, but were largely denied, refertal&SB as a result of Defendanédlegedly

discriminatory policies. Plaintiffs move to certify the class under Fe&edal of Civil

! Antwoin Hunt aclass repesentative sincAugust 9, 2017, asked to Wiraw as anamed Plaintifon
December 21, 2019vell after thepartieshad submitted their briefegarding Rdintiffs’ motion for
certification The Court intudes backgpund information from Hunt as relevant to dispositibthis
motion, but it does not address any arguments concerning whether Hunt makes ae athesguat
representative.
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Procedure 23(b)(3)Defendants oppose class caéifion and move to strike the testimony of
Plaintiffs’ expert Dr. Marc Bendick®

Because the Court finds that Dr. Bendgkeport satisfies the criteria for admissibility
underDaubertand Rule 702, the Court denies Defendants’ motion to strike Dr. Besdick’
testimany. Additionally,the Court finds that Plaintiffs hawarried their burdeander Rule 23
to show that certification is appropriaadgrants the motion for class certification

BACKGROUND

Background on MVP and GSB

MVP, headquartered in Deggfd, lllinois,is a stafing agency that places employees in
temporary positions with a variety of employarsoss the United Statascluding around the
Chicago metropolitan area. MVP operated a branch office at 5637 W. Roosevelt Roay, Cice
lllinois (“Cicerooffice”), until December 2015ThereafterMVP sold theoffice to Elite
Staffing. Under MVP s managementhe Cicero officchadapproximately forty to fortyfive
client companies. The office staff includednanagerapproximately six dispatens who wee
responsibléor managing payroll, recruitment, hiringnd assigning laboremss well as/an
drivers, who transported workers and helpaith recruitment The managemwho oversaw the
office’s dayto-day operations, reported to MVP’segident Elijah Wilde, and Vice President of
OperationsParron Grottolo

GSB is an industrial baking facility specializing in croissants and Dgaistiiesand

locatedat 3700 Kedzie Avenue, Chicago, lllinois. GSB operates 24 hours a day, seven days a

2 After Hunt withdrew as a named Plaintiff in this case, the padoeapleted Huris deposition in
connection withanothercase pendin@ this District andfiled supplemental briefingiith respect to the
adequacy of the class representatives and counsel in thisTtas@pinion incorpratesthe argurents
raised inthe suplemental briefing The National Employment Law Hextalso filed aramicusbrief in
support of Plaintiffsmotion for class certification, which the Cbouonsidereaver Defendants
objection.



week onthreedifferent shifsand reliesn parton temporary laborers to maintainvsrkforce.
From 2009 to 2015 (the “Class Period3$B contractedexclusivelywith MVP to supply
temporary laborersThe contract provided that MVP empéaitaborers asemporay workers

“for Client’s benefit,”paidlaborers their wageand maintainegersonnel and payroll records.
Doc. 754at2. The contract also stated that GSB was responsible for supervising temporary
laborers, and that “during the period Temgry Workersare performig services for Clienthe
duties and conduct of said Temporary Workers shall be wholly subject to the operatidrall ¢
and direction of Client, and, therefore, said Temporary Workers shall becomerthedab
servants of Clienfor said riod.” Id. at 4.

MVP supplied workers to GSB for approximigtéen different types of minimurwage
positions: packer, sanitation, curler, mixer, lamination, oven, cake sorter, pan feieder
aligner, and break/lunch persowhile GSB preérred workes with experiace, some of the
assignments did not require aspecific training or qualificationandMVP couldfill these
positions on a daily basialso called'Dailies.” Doc. 700-2 at 61-62.0ther assignments
including the mixercurler, cake sodr, and icing aligner positions, required some on-the-job
training. MVP could not fill hese positionen a daily basis and MVP provided workers hiired
“temp to hiré positions that could potentially lead fidl -time employment Id. at 62.

MVP relied on the ame pool of laborers to fill botthaily and temp tdire assignments.
None of the positions required a criminal background check. The only requirement for all
workers was to attend an orientation session at the Cicero office where laborgesirece
instructionon GSBs“Good Manufactung Practicesor “GMPs”” Doc. 700-2 at 57, 64; Doc.
750 at 2. The GMPs prohibited laborers from wearing nail polish, jewelry, or earidgs

required laborers to cover tattoos and wear a hairnet.

3 This Opinbn cites to the ECF header on documentsaiathan therigind page number.
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GSBs demanddr laborerdluctuatedday by day and week by week. Sometintiesre
were no or very few open positions that needed filling. Other times GSB relied ondVIVP t
provide more than a hundred laborers a day, sometimes requesting extra workerswerity
to thirty minutes. At times, GSB only needeworkers for certaighiftsthat wee difficult to fill,
such as third shitor weekend shiftsMVP employed a variety of tactics toeet GSB’s neexd
MVP stationednanagers and supervisors, referred to assit€®s; at GSB Doc. 700-1 at 50.
These enployees took ordeffer laborers directly fronGSB supervisorand personallyecruied
laborersthrough a variety of methods. The site supervisors kept notebooks with lists of
workers they could call. Theysal worked handh-hand with dispatchers, who interfacsiih
walk-ins at MVPs Cicero officeandvan drivers who went into neighborhoodsécruit
laborers MVP purchased advertisements in both English and Spanish in Spanish-language
newspapey on an as-needed basMVP alsogaveflyers todispatchers and vaniders to
distribute near the Cicero office, close to the bakery, or in the neighborhoods vayeiedt.

Dispatcherglid not refer individuals whom they thought might be affiliated with a gang.
Although there was no formal training regarding how totifegang affiliation management
instructeddispatchers téook at the candiate$ behavior and appearance, the candidates
reaction when dispatchers told them about the requirements for work assigrimbetser their
pants [were] Bnging,” and whether the candidate looked like he or she wanted to work.
Doc. 700-2 at 63.

Additionally, GSB was not supposed to employ the same lafmriemger thaminety
days unless GSB elected to hirattlaborer for a permanet position If GSB did not wana
certan laborer to returnt could mark the individuads“Do Na Returri or “DNR.” 1d. at 66—

67.



Il. Discriminatory Policy

On February 27, 2013, Brian Lucas, Aronzo Davis, and Torrence Vaughankifiled t
putativeclass action against Defeants allegng that MVP had a policy or practice of steering
African Americans away from work signments at GSBNone of the original plaintiffs remain
in the case, and in their stead Greed Zollicoffer now acas dass representatives on behalf of
all African Americans wb wereallegedlydenied work at GSB as a result of Defendants’
discriminatory hiring policy.Plaintiffs offer the affidavits of several formeMVP employees,
summarized belown support of the motion for certification. These employetstifiedthat
MVP’s discriminatory policywas “common knowledge,” Doc. 7Qlat 13, thatmanagement
imposedt in a top-down manner, and thd/P’s client, GSB, was the motiating force behind
the policy. Plaintiffs also testified abditheir own experiences as jobekers at the Cicero office
and how they witnessed MVP dispatchersmy preferential treatment to Latinmver African
Americans.Finally, Plaintiffs offer the testimony of their expert witneBs. Marc Bendick,
who conduded that there were substahshortfalls in the number of African Americans hired
during nearly the entir€lass Pgod.

A. Maria Carretero

Maria Carretero worked at GSB from June 1999 until July 2014 w8Hesdas a packer
until September 200&henGSB promoted her to third shBtpevisor. As a supervisqr
Carretero was responsible for overseeing employees of G&Blleas temporary laborers from
MVP. Carretero testified that since she staaga supervisor, GSB hadtaong preference for
Latinos and “[i]t was common knowledgleat GSB did not want to have African Americans at
the factory. Doc. 700-1 at 136. rior to 2013, Carretero testified that there were almost no

African Americans at GSBs either employees or a&iporary laborers, drthat as far as she



knew, “thae wasonly one African American mechanic employed directly by GSH.” When
MVP sent Afican Americans to fill temporary positions, G8&nagemenivould instruct on-
site supervisors to DNR theni\t some point in 2013, GBS began allowing African Amerans
to work as [ailies,but still did not want them to work as regular laborers.

Carreterdestified toanincidentinvolving Alejandro “Alex” Salgado-&SB’s plant
manager—in January 2014hen one of thgroduction lines shwassupervisingoecame
backed up.When Salgado inquired about the cause of the d€lagretero explained that not
everyone knew how to do tlirgjob. Although most of the workers on the line were Latinos, and
there were a few Aftan Americans, Salgadgelled” Quitan esos negrég“get rid of those
black people”).ld. At the end of the shiftSB allowedall of the Latino workers teeturn,
while markingall of the African American®NR.

Carreteraalsoheard other GSB supervisareke derogatoryemarks about African
Americans. One superngor referred to African Americans asggers”and stated that they were
lazy and worthlessld. Another referred to African Americans ‘dazy, goodfor-nothing
‘negros’” Id.

B. Rosa Ceja

Rosa Cg@a began working for MVP in March 2014MVP enployed her as both an on-
site supervisor at one of MV&>clients in Waukegan, lllinois, dras a dispatcher aarious
branch offices, including ones in Waukegan, EImwood Park, and Niles, lllinois. eStjad
that MVPaccommodated clients who prefedrLatino laborersver African Americans She
believedmany ofMVP’s clients preferred Latinos because they Whass likely to complain
about things like being injured on the job or being underpdal.at 153. She &eribedbeing

“yelled at by reprsentative®f client companig” for assigning them African American§he



alsotestifiedthat David Barnet, ore of MVP’s ownerswarned her not to assign African
Americans to certain clients “because Mu®lUd lose the acount.” Id.

Cejatestified thatwhen the Giero office needed more laborers to fill positions,
dispatchers would call tHelmwoodParkoffice to request laborers, and vieersa. This
happened on almost a daily basis. When the Cidéoeavas trying to fill spots at GSE&BSB
only wanted Latinos. Once, Grottolo called the EImwBadkoffice and asked Ceja MVP
had 1os que escuchan a La Lgyr “a La Que Buenai.e. laborers who listegdto the Spanish-
language radio stations L&y or La Que Buena, whicBejaunderstood to mean Latinos. VR
told dspatchers to use the terimfingues(bilinguals) for Latino workes, andno bilinguegnot
bilingual), guaposlhandsome ones), atorenagdark ones) for African American$1VP
manageentinstructal herand other dispatchets exclusivelyusecode wordgo refer to a
persons race anéhformedthemthatthey could be fired for usingrms likeAfrican American,
Black, Hispani¢or Latino.

C. Daisy Corral

Daisy Corralworked as an osite sipervisorat MVP beginning in July 2014 and stayed
with theoffice afterits sale b Elite Staffinguntil June 2016 Corral testified that MVP
occasionally assigned African Americans to G&Bthat they were typically given daily
assignmentgather thamegular scbdules that went to Latinosln addition to being assigned
weekend shiftsyhich relievedGSB of payingregular laborersvertine, African Americans
oftenreceived assignentsto “the worst jobs. Doc. 700-1 at 52. For example, African
Americans werédisproportionately assigned to work in Danish Production or the oven room,

where laborers are required to work in excessive and comsatit Id.



Several GSB supervisors told Cairnot to assign African Americans to their
departments and complained if she did. W@erral sent her supervisor, JaRetstrg an email
suggesting that they rotate African Americans assigned to Danish production tpasitiens,
“[n]othing happened.”ld.

In the early fall of 2015, Rostro called a meeting fboa-site sipervisors aGSB and
indicated that GSB had instrudtber to stop assigning African Americans. Rostro told the
supervisors to advis&frican American laborers th&SB had diring freeze.Rostro also
instructed supervisors not to adviseigdn Ameri@ans about thmandatoryorientationfor
people whowished to work at GSB. When the on-site supervisors complained and told Rostro
that thenewpolicy was illegal, she respondedthias was what the customer wantethe
number of African Amecan assigad to GSB shisequently declined. Corral dedadl tha
MVP, and later Elite Staffing, maintained an Excel file titlethployee Hours by Labor
Account,” that showed the number of hours worked per laborer assigned td@&8B53. The
number of hours worked by non-Latinos lileed “dramatically after themeeting.1d. In
March 2016, Rostro told supervisors they could start bringing back African Americans faborer
but Corral testified there weistill proportionately less African Americarorkers.

D. Lissette Robles

Lisette Robles wrkedat MVP as ananager of th€icero office from April 2011 until
November 2013. The manager of the Cicero office handiikdnarketing and advertising for
employees on aasneeded basis.Doc. 700-1 at 2. During hemtie at the Cicero &te, MVP
primarily advertigd, in both Emlish and Spanish, in HOY, a Spanish-language newspaper.
MVP would also distribute flyers on an as-needed basis, approximately half ofwdnein

Englishand half in Spanish.



E. Pamela Sanchez

Pamela Sanchez warifor MVP as an orsite supeavisor stationed at B from
November 2013 to May 2014, and as a dispatchiiV@’s Cicero office from June 201u4htil
February 2015. While working as an site sipervisor Sanchezestified thatGSB stafffor
every department toldenthat they did notvant African Americas and preferred Latino
laborers.ld. at142. This included Salgado, who said “he wanted onlpatig labores” and
“told [her] directly notto assign African Americans toork at GSBbecause they were lazy, they
were trouble magrsand their job perforance is poaf Id. at 141.

Sancheaised many ways tofill positions according to GB’s preferencesPrior to her
shift, MVP dispatches would send hea list of prospectivdaborers. When Sanchez received the
list, she would advise the giatcher to cancel laborers with Rbilspanic names because she
knew that GSB would reject themar®hez testified that MVP rarely agsed African
Americans to GSB, and that if they didhis usully only on weekends-so that GSRould
avoid paying its nional laborers overtime-or to third shifts which were harder to fill. On the
rare occasion that Sanchez saw African Americans assigied third shift, GSB employees
told her to DNR thosworkers

Sanchez atspersonally rearitedlaborers inperson or over the phone. Sanchez kept a
list of laborers in a notebook whom she could c8khnchekep a person’s contaatformation
if they had previously completed a work assignmernit, they calledthe MVP office phone at
GSB. Because of GSB preferance for Latinos, Sanchez only kept the names of Latino laborers
based on their last name. Othersite supervisoralso kept notefioksandsimilarly kept the

namesandcontact informatiorfor Latino laborers only.



Sanchez would also work with MVP vants who generallyvent topredominantly
Latino neighborhoods in Chicagsuch as Little Villagep recruitworkers MVP also handed
out flyers in Latino neighborhoods advertising worla &hica@ bakery. Sandaz testifiedhese
flyers werein Spanishandshe never sawnein English.

Sanchez testified that in January 2014, there was a meetinthe/itimsite supervisors,
dispatchers, and van drivers at the Cicero offifiter Salgado sent an exihto MVP management
complaining aboutinfulfilled job aders. Sanchez, as well@ker supervisors ardispatchers,
complained that they could not assi§frican Americans becau$eSB would DNR them.
Barnett and Gribolo, who were both preseat themeeting, indicated they would talk to the
owner ofGSBard Salgado about acceptimgrkersregardless ofheirrace. Sanchez testified
that GSB supervisorsontinued to tell orsite superviss to DNR African Americanafter the
meeting.

After Sanchez begn working as aispatcherother dispatchetsainedherto usetwo
differentmethods taleal with walkins depending on whether they wéfeican Americanor
Latino. Dspatchers adviseAfrican Americanghat they could only give them an applion i
there was a jobpening and that they could comachk at4:00 am. to see if there was any work.
Sanchez would sometimes assign African Americans to difficuwinpopular jobs, such as those
that required long shift®r those thainvolved workingin freezing temperatures, also known as
“cold sites. Id. at 145. For Latinos, by contrast, Sanchez and other dispatchers would
immediately give them an appligat and put them on a work ticket caill clients to see if there
were positions availaél

Sanchealsotestified regarding an icident with a particulaworker named Kevin James.

Jameswho isAfrican American completed an application at the Ciceffice on October 15,
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2014. Sancheadvised James that he could return the next motoibg assiged to one of tw

client companis, one of whiclwas GSB.Sanchez sent a closing email to fissift dispatchers
confirming that James was scheduled takatbe next morning. When James returned to the
Cicerooffice, he waited from 4 a.muntil 9 a.m. lut dispatcherseaver gave him an assignment.
Morning dispatchers claimed that James never appeared, although Sanchez knew thiseto be fals
WhenJames retrnedthatafternoon to complain t8anchezSanchepursued the issue with the
Cicero ofice manage The manageold Sanchez thathe should natonfirm African

Americans for work and should instead tell themadme backn the morning to see there

were openings.

During the pendencgf this case, Defendants alleged that Sanchez coethp#rjury,
fabricated evidence at the ditien of Plaintiffs counsel, and violated a confidentiality
agreement with MVP. The Court found that Defendaaitegations wereappropriate tgpresent
to the trier of factrather than th€ourt. A detailed dscription d the facts isset out in the
Jaruary 16, 2019Memorandm Report and Recommendation, Doc. 680, which the Court
adopted on February 27, 2019.

F. Alex Salgado

On June 17, 2014, Salgado wrote the followingagl to GSBpresident Yianny Caparos
and GO Mark Greshans:

I’m typing this email wit a huge levebf frustration, we have been
having a lot of issues with MVP now we are having problems no
matter what shiftday it s just cray, | just came from lines 1 and 2
packaging and the people they broufgh clams$ells are just

standing, sleeping one of themtlva watt on his hand and |

called the lead upstairs to join me there and she was telling me that
she igsic] been gettinglakinds of people that shanew those

will not work but is what she ¢g&from MVP mainoffice [sic]. |

spoke to Janetnd she jst told me thashe will call the office,
yesterday | ask Louis and Janet for a meeting regarding the

11



weekend mess. . .wé€ havebeen having the house full with Afro-
American peopleand just nobeen workindsic].

Doc. 700-3 at 17. Salgado also sugggdthat GSBwork with a differentstaffingagency.
Caparos responded that he would participate in discussions when he rdtarfudidwing
Thursday and that Salgado “need[ed] to hold Louis accountalle Approximatelytwo weeks
later,on June 30, 2014 SBissuedSalgadaa disciplinary lette stating that his email had
violatedthe companys affirmative ation andantidiscrimination policies. GSB required
Salgado to attend a training session anédhibiat it was the comparsg/policy to provide equal
employment opportunities to all qualified imdluals regardless of their race or color.

G. Norman Green

Greenfirst sought worlatthe Cicerooffice on October 10, 2018.0n his first dayhe
completed ang@plicationand put down two phone numberaedor his cdlphone ad one for a
family member.Green asketb work immediately and staff instructed hino place his name on
the signin sheet. Greeanderstood tha¥lVP providedwork assigmentson a firstcome, first
servel basis andvaited for aproximately fou hours forhis name to be calledVhen he did not
receive an assignmeire office staffinstructed him to come baeit 8 am. the next day.When
Green returned theext day he agairwaited fa several hourgvithout anassignment This
happened on sekad occasns, during which Green noticed that Latino workers wawid/e
after him receivelDs, andreceive work assignment&fore him or that vansarryingLatino
laborerswould arrive and MVP sent thodaborergo work immediatelyafter they signein.

Greenvisited the Cicero office approximately ten to fifteen times in 2014 but only
received a few work assignments, nafevhich were taGSB. At his first assignmento ameat

packing fatory, the company released Green aftehsiirs into whatvas supposed to be an

*On November 22, 24 Green gjned a declaratioin which he erronassly stated thizhe first sought
work at MVP beginning in July 2014.
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eight-hour shift. At what was supposed to be his second assignment to a chocolate factory,
Green waited several hours bef being told he had the incorregbé of bootseven though an
MVP dispatcher had already approved his bootshig\thrd assignment, Green borrowed bus
fare to get to work after MVB dispatcher promised him a ride hofr@m a job When Green
was piked up from work close to 1 a.m., the driver droppied off at a train station that had no
trains running for everal hours. The next day MVP called to ask if he wanted to go lea@en
refusedbut saidhe was willing to work if they &d a different asgnment for him. He never
received another assigemt.

On January 5, 2011he parties deposdéreenasa part of his case. Green testified there
were"“lots of month%in 2013 when he did not have a working cell phone. Doc. 711-14 at 2.
Green elied in part on prepaid phones, and when he had enough money to pay for a phone it was
ofteneasier ® purchase a new one rather than place more money ollpkone. The new
phone, in that case, would also have a new nuntbezen also testified thae met with his
attorney‘plenty oftimes' before e became a namé&hintiff in the case.ld. at 14. When
askel about s allegations against GSByeen testified that Hanew “nothing about no bakery,”
and that he was not aware thatwas suing GSBId. at 12.

H. James Zollicoffer

Zollicoffer first saught workin 2007at MVP's branch office in Prospect Heights,
lllinois, wherehereceived reglar assignments for several manthVhen Zollicafer moved to
Chicago around the summer of 2009, the Prospect Heights dispatelutedhim to the Cicero
office. When hdirst visitedthe Cicero office, Zoltoffer signead in, completed an application
and waited several hours without receiving an assignment. Z@dlicefurnedseveral times

over the course of alit two weekssametimes arrivig at around 4 or 4:30 a.rand waiting for
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an hour and a half to two hours. On one occasiomasapproximately the tenth or eleventh
person to sign inMVP staff told Zollicoffer that they would call him or instructednhiio check
back b see if theravere openingsZollicoffer, however, observed thitVP consistetly
assignedvork toLatinolaborersbut nd to African Americans.Zollicofferalsocalled the office
threeto fourtimes a week foapproximatelyanother month to inquire about workle never
received amssignment

During Zollicoffer's February 2, 2018 deposition, testified that heould not recall how
many times he visited MVP in 2009, or whether he sought work at MVP in 2010, 2011, or 2015.
Zollicoffer thought that he did not seek work at MVP in 2012 or 28d&use é& was working
elsewherat thetime. Zollicoffer also testifiedhat heheld a number of different jobs
throughout the&ClassPeriod. Throughout 2012, for example, he workedHerstaffing agncies
Labor Solutions and Labor Temps, and in 2012 and 2013, he worked at the Georgia Nut
company througMVP’s Prospect Heidh office. WhenZollicoffer had consistent work
elsewherghe did not seek work #te Cicero offie.

Zollicoffer testified thathe pleaddguilty to several crimem his life, includingarmed
robbery in 1986, controlled substance crimes in 1997 and 19898 mon of a stolen vehicle in
1999, aggravated fleeing police in 2007, theft in 2008, andemisenor domdis battery in
2011. In 2011, Zollicoffer was incarcerated for approximdiatty-five days. Zollicoffer
thought tlat he may have been incarcerateddafas well

Counsel for Defendants also ask&allicoffer whether he knew what it meatio be a
class representative and what his role as a plaintiff entailed, to which Zollicoffer aas$wer
“No.” Doc. 713-5 at 3. Counsel also asked Zollicoffer regarding dimslagainst GSB:

Q: Are you claiming that GSB discriminatedvhat are you
claming GSB disdminated against you?
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A: If it’s through the company, | never said GSB. | said MVP.

Q: Okay

A: You're ;aying GSB. | never said GSB out of my mouth | don’

recall saying it if I did. 'Im saying the company that sent me there.

Q: Okay. Are you claiming that GSB, Gold Standard Baking,

discriminated against you based on race?

A: Am | claiming that? No, Im not claiming it.

Q: And other than that eavesdropping on that conversation you

mentioned with Mr. Richardson, you dohave anybasis for

saying that GSB discriminated agahAfrican Americansright?

A: None whatsoever.
Doc. 758 at 186—88.

l. Antwoin Hunt
Hunt, who withdew as a named Plaintiff in Decembed(¥irst began workindor

MVP beginnng in the mid2000s. In 201the completed aew application and sought work
several times fron2010to 2013,sometimes @iving at 4:00 or 430 a.m. bedre the doors
opened. He consistently saw Latino laborers assigned work before Afimcanears, even
when they arrived late, $1 before assignees were sent ddtintreceivedwork assignments
during this time period, but none were to GSB. TheAugust 2014, Hunt received his first
assignment to GS®orking overnights.During his time at GSB, Hunt noticéldat most of the
workers were Latinoand that all othe work schedules, signs, and instructiese entirely in
Spanish. During Bitraining,GSB dso played a video in Spanish with English subtitlagew
monthsafter his first assignmengSB offered him a positioas a regular tempary worker.
Hunt hadregular issues with ort@s supervisors, Guadalupe Garcia. She would, for example,
give him his breaks in quick succession at the beginning of his shift instead of spatirauthe
as she did fiothe Latino labores. Even though Humworked more thn ninety dayst GSB the

bakery never offeredim apermanent positionln Felruary 2015, Hunt showed up to waak

his usual timevhen without any warningiGSB staff dd not allowhim into the building. GSB
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markedhim as DNR for poorperformance MVP plaedHunt at another client shortly thereafter
but continued to dropim from thelist of regularworkers assigned to the cliesntdfailed to pay
him the hourly wage he was promised.

On February 8, 2017 and February 19, 2@8 parties deposeaduntas part of this case.
In the second deposition, Defendants’ counsel askedwhather hénadappeared as a witness
or as a plaintiff againddefendants when he testified in the first depositidont replied I
wasnt suing anyoe. | was, | was here andeposition because | felt that | was mistreated, so |
hired my attorneyight here, Chs, and the deposition came behind thi®bdc.711-10 at 2.
Counsel alsaskedHunt aboufa previous employment applicatiam which he put down
“seasonal temp toife” as the reason he stopped working atgnesvsious employerWhen
counsel asked Hunt why he put this down, he replied: “I'm filling blanks out so | don't leave |
line short. People lie on ajgations all thdime.” 1d. at & Hunt also admitted that at tirmehe
would “stretch the truth. Id. at 8.

During the pendency of this case, the Court sanctioned Hufailiag to disclose certain
facts and documents during discovery. The May 29, 2018, Memorandum Report and
Recommend#on, Doc. 592, which the Court adopted on June 28, 2018, Docsé&85prth a
detailed description of the ftscrelated to the sanctiangn connection with the sanctions order,
Judge Kim ordered Hunt to personally pay $1,976, in addition to @odteeasonable attorneys
fees incurred in connection with his continued deposition, by January 7, 2019. Docs. 654-55.

In addition to ths case, Hunt alsserved as a named Plaintiff in two other mattensnt
v. Personnel Staffing Group, LL.GBlo. 16 C 11086 (N.D. Ill.), anducas v. Vee Ha Inc, No. 12
C 9672(N.D. lll.). Hunt left hisDecember 20, 2019 deposition\fiee Palduring the lunch

break and did not returnChat deposition also revealed that Hunt had failed to disclossrcert
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prior litigation in which he had been involvedhe following day, Plaintiffs in this case filed a
motion to withdraw Huns apgarance as a Named Plaintiff, explaining that he had moved to
Texas and that ehobligations of being a Named Plaintiff in all three cdmsasproved
overwhelming. The Court grantecetivithdrawal request ondaary 7, 2020. Subsequently,
Defendants inhis case moved to reopen discoviryurther investigatessues that arose during
Hunt's December 2019 deposition. Hunt sat for a continued deposition on February 16,
2020.

Of note during the December 20 and February 16 depositions, Hunt acknowledged not
having much involvement in or understanding af ttase. He suggested he had not hachmu
interaction with his counsel. Hualsotestified that he haldecome involved in this case through
Richard,whom Hunt thought may have been part of a workers advocacy group. Counsel for
Defendants alsasked Hunt about a cell phone he used during the relewenperiod, from
which Plaintiffs only disclosedavideo Hunt took while working at GSB. Hunt indicated other
potentially relevant information could be on that phone but that he did not know where it was.
After the deposition, counsel for Plaintiffs represent that Hunt informed thermitistorage
unit under his control. Finally, the continued deposition revealed that one of theyattome
Plantiffs in this case, Christopher Williams, paid the entiretyhef monetary sanction imposed
on Hunt, with Williams and Hunt having an agment for Hunt toepay the sanctions out of
either settlement or personal funds. Hunt testified that he hapaidiyViliams $200, while

Williams' ledger reflects two payments in the amounts of $2aD$150.
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[I. Expert Witness

A. Discovery Disputes Relatd to MVP Records

During discovery, Riintiffs sought recorddom Defendants documenting thaborers
who sought work at MVP and which laborers M#$signedo GSB. This includedhesign-in
sheetghat labores usedat theCicero office Plaintiffs intended to analyze the sign-sheets to
determine the number of African Americans who sought work aPMag well ashie order in
which peoplechecka in—data thaPlaintiffs could compare to theumber of African
AmericansMVP actually assignetb GSB. In responseMVP indicatal that it“had no policy or
practice with respect to the use or maintenance o$ignin sheet$ ard it “has not determined
andbr collectednformation on the race or ethnicity of its applits and employees.” Doc. 644-
1 at 26, 34.

Plaintiffs consuled with Dr. Marc Bendick, a labor economist, and determined they
could analyzehe racial maleup of MVP job applicants and refersalising laborersaddresses.
They would do this in two waydgrirst, because MVP referred pele to shorterm, lowpaid
positions, it is typically not costffective for laborers to relocate or commute lorggathce for
jobs. Thus, the home addressetlaborers registered at the MVP Cicero office are expected to
fall within a limited geographbal area surronding that ofice” Doc. 601-8 § 11. This area,
called thefreasonable recruitment areBoc. 644-1 1 10, could hesed tcestimate the expeate
representation of AfricaAmericans among those who sought work at MVP basethtanfrom
the US Census Bureaisecond, Rintiffs could utilize aechnique called geocoding estimate
the number of Africamericans MVPadually referred to GSB This involved converting
homeaddresses to coordinates on a mag,then using Census Bureau datadtrulae the

probabilitythatthe individualdiving at eachaddress is of a certain race

18



Plaintiffs subsegently soughtecads ofthe names and address# Cicero officejob
applicants and referrale GSB Initially, MVP indicated it was toodrdensome to pruce a list
of job applicantsestricted to the Class Peribdcause of how #tructured itslatabase The
partieseventually came to an agreemhavith the Courts approvalio resolve Plaintiffs’
discovey request MVP agreed to proae two lists: hefirst would include the nameddress,
and MVP ID number for laboretdVP assigned out of the Ciaeoffice from wken itopened in
2000 untilSegember 1, 2014the“Master Addreskist”). The secondist wouldinclude the
names of labarsthe Cicero dice paid duing the Class Perio@dClass Period Assignment
List”). The parties agreed thHRalainiffs’ coursel woud winnow down the first lisby
eliminating employeeswho were not also on the second.ligthe result would be a ligtith the
pertinentinformation that Plaintifféyadrequestedincluding the names aratldressesf laborers
who received work asgnmentsfrom the Cicero officaluring theClass Reriod. Plaintiffs agreed
they wouldreturncopies of theoriginal, unfilteredViaster Address Isit dter they culled it.

Pursuant to this agreement, MVP produttezltwo Excel fileso Plaintifs. The Mater
Addresd.ist contained64,142 ows of information, sometimes with multiple rows for a single
employeeas wellmultiple aldressesseparated by commas undlee same column, i.e. in
commaseparated values (“CSV”) formatThe second list etained thenamesof employees
MVP paid—and theefore assigned workduring the Class PeriodPlaintiffs counsel merged
the two lists, remang employees fronthe MastelAddressList who were not on th€lass
Period Assignment ListThe result was a listf 18,191Cicerooffice referrals during thel@ss

Periodwith corresponding home addressksst of 18,191Referral$).

® As addressed further below in the Aysas, Plaintiffs dispute that the Master dvéss List was in 8V
format.
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On October 7, 201#laintiffs sent the List 018,191 Referrals to Defendants and asked
Defendants’ counsel to review and confirmattthe listaccuately reflected the individusto
whomMVP assignedvork from the Cicero office during thélassPeriod. Defendants did not
follow upto veiify or challengehe lists accuracy. Consequently, Plaintiffsounsel provided
the List of 18,191 Reifrrds to Dr. Bemlick and represented that tss an accurate list of the
employees assigned out of the Cicero office during thesBeriod, and tht Dr. Bendick could
rely on it for his analysis. Later, on November 14, 2017, MVP produced two adtlitiea to
Plairtiffs. The first contained wated address information for all laborers MVP referred out of
the Cicero office categorized lyear, from 2009 to 2015 @i Yearly Cicero Address Fil&s
The second contained the work hours for each lalasseyned to GSB also categorized by year
(“Yearly GSB Hours Fil€y.

B. Dr. Bendick’s Analysis

The first stepn Dr. Bendicks analysis requed identfying MVP’s reasonable
recruitment areaWith the help of an assistant, William Glimpse, Dr. Bendiclatedeach
addresdgrom the List of 18,191 Refals within ageographic zonealled a Public Use

Microdata Area (4PUMA”).” PUMAs are geo@phially contiguousareasencompassingt

® Plaintiffs state that Bfendants refused [to] engge in a discussion”teut the List 618,191 Referrals
and whether it aald beused as a common data basewhich both partiesould rely. Doc. 6441  27.
Defendants argue that this charactaion is misleading, and countidat Plaintif§’ counsel never
explained how they compiled thist. But Defendants do not refutieat Plaintifs’ counsel sent
Defendants an email on @tter 7, 2014, with the list of 18,191 Re#dsrattached, and specifically asked
MVP’s counsel toeview and confirmhat the list wa accurate. Plaintiffs’ counsel senfollow-up

email on Januarg5, 2015, idicating that they had not heard back froeféhdants regarding the
request. Further, Defendants concede thatPMvould not and did not stifate to a commodatabase

of any sort.” Doc. 652 at 8.

" This is tetinically what “geocoding” refers to: convieag an address into latitudinal and longiinal
coordinates. Usually, this is to imfeertain information ahg the people living at the doess using
Census Bureau inforation. SeeKevin Fiscella & AllenM. Fremont,Use of Geocoding anBurname
Analysis to Estimate Race and Ethnicitiealh Serv Res.41,1482-1500 (Aug.2006. In this case, the
Court utiizes the term geocoding as it relates to converting an addtes®ordinates and then linking
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least100,000 residents according to the decennial ceshesy arethe smdlestgeograpic
zones for which the CensBsireaus American Community SurveyACS’) releases data
relevant tocalculatingtheracial and ethniccharacteristics of MVP job seeker®r. Bendick
located the addresses within PUMfas both the 2000 and010 Census. He then listed the
PUMAs from largest to smallesiccording to the number of addresses locafigun the area
and identifiedhe largesPUMASs that accoued for 95% of potential laborers. This came out to
nineteenPUMAs from the 2000 census arndlgeenfrom the 201GensughatDr. Bendick
defined aghereasonable recruitment area.

Second, Dr. Bendick counted the persons residingmitig reasonable recruitmearea
who were likely to be qualifiedvailable, and interestea MVP work referralsaccording the
ACS. This included people who 1) were in the civilian work force, i.e. working or actively
looking for work; 2) had no, li¢, or some education up through post-secondary school, but not
people with college or graduate degrees; arebh®)el less than the median annual earnings in
the (hicago metropolitan ared&rom 2009 to 2011, across PUMAs defined by the 2000 census,
26.8% d potential MVP job seekers wer®n-Hispanic African American {HAA”). From
2012 to 2013, across PUMAs defined by the 2010 census, 33.5% of potential M\éekebss

were NHAA?2

this to Census Bureau data to calculate tlodgility that the person living at the adds is of a certain
race. Id.

8 Dr. Bendick’smethodology here islitle unclear. The Census Bureaupdates thACS annually and
releases statisticaiformation infive-year data sets. The 201&8 data, dr instance, was compiled
according to datthe Census Bureau collected from 2009 to 2(4i3the time that DrBendick
calculated the reasonabskcruitment eea, this was the most recent ACS datailable andDr. Bendick
states that he solelsed the2013 data set for steps one and two. Bddburt's understanding, the ACS
only releasedlata for 2009 to 2013 according to 2010 PUMAs. Onlg<igar dataats concluding in
2011 or earlier utized the 2000@ensus PUMAs. Thus, if Dr. Bendiatilized ACS data for PUMAS
defined by the 2000 ceus, it seems he would have needed to utiliee2thil0 or 2011 ACS, vich
collected data going back t@@6 and 2007espectively.
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Third, Dr. Bendick combined the data fof fale years using the weigletd average of the
26.8% and 33.5% figures. Dr. Bendick concluded that 29.5% of MVP job seekers from 2009 to
2013, determined according to M\&Reasonable recruitment area, were expected to be NHAA.
This figure includedwo PUMAs from the 2000 Census and one PUMA from the 2010 Census
thatwere not contiguous with the other PUMAs and that Dr. Bendick considered to besoutlier
Excludng these PUMAs yielded a shigy higher expected representation figure of 30.6%,
which Dr. Bendick considered a reasonaalrnative expected represation figure

Fourth,Dr. Bendick"considefed] the overall conservatism ofetlestimated availabiljt”

Doc. 701-1 at 74Dr. Bendick con&dered his estimateexpeotd represntationfigure to be
conservative because il excluded African Anericans of Hispanic agin and 2)it included the
outlier RUMAs that lowered the expecte€presentation figure.

After estimating the expeateavailability of African Americans, Dr. Bendick calculated
the estimated actual representatid NHAA among MVP referrals to GSBTo do this,

Dr. Bendickusedgeocoding, convertingach address to laide/longitude coordinates and then
linking the addess to Census Bureau data about the neighborhood, specdemadys blocks-
geographic areaancompassing approximatdbyrty-eightresidents eachDr. Bendick could
then irfer the probability a persoreferred to GB was NHAA accorihg to the proportion of
NHAA living within the blockin which the laborer's home was locéte

Dr. Bendick began his analgswitha list of 11,255referrals ® GSBduring the Class
Period(“List of 11,255 Referrals”) Dr. Bendick compiled this list depending in part on the

Yearly GSBHours Files® Dr. Bendick computed a probability of being NA for

° Dr. Bendick testified that he congd the List of 11,255 Referralssmd on the Yearly GSB Hours Files
during his depositie. The Yearly GSB Hours Files, however, did nontain any addresséor referrals,
and Dr. Bendick could naxplain from where he pulled the addees
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approximately 72.4% dhe referrals He then applied this probabilitijgure to all referralsn

each year.Dr. Bendick esinated the actal representatio of NHAA laborersas follows:

Year Non-Hispanic African Americans among
Persons Referred

2009 1.7%

2010 2.8%

2011 3.9%

2012 5.0%

2013 9.9.%

2014 28.2%

2015 33.9%

These figures, as welsdahe 29.5% estimated repretaion figure form the princigl

conclusions of Dr. Bendick’analysis.Dr. Bendick reached four further conclusionsttere
were substantiahortfals in NHAA representation among GSB referrals in every year from
2009 to 2014, but no shortfall in 2015;tBgse Bortfalls, betwer 10.8 to 28.2 standard
deviatons, were statistically significand) these shortfalls caesponded to 216,975 work hours
between 2009 to 2014; and 4) the sharp increase in referrals in 2014 to 2015, following the
initiation of Plaintiffs lawsuit, confimed his findings.The most revant portions of Dr.

Bendick’s findings are summarized below

Shortfall Analysis from Dr. Bendick’s Revised Declaratiot’
Year Expected NHAA NHAA among Shortfall in NHAA | Standard
Referrals Persons Referred Referrals Deviations
% # % # % #
2009 29.5% |91 1.7% 5 27.8% 86 10.7
2010 29.5% | 251 2.8% 23 26.7% 228 17.1
2011 29.5% |391 3.9% 52 25.6% 339 20.4
2012 29.5% | 803 5.0% 135 24.5% 667 28.1
2013 29.5% | 464 9.9.% 156 19.6% 308 17.0
2014 29.5% | 781 28.2% 748 1.3% 34 15
2015 29.5% | 539 33.9% 618 No shortall
2009-2014| 29.5% | 2,781 11.9% 1,119 17.6% 1,662 37.5
Total

9Dr. Bendick’s Rebuttal Declaiian containedfigures slightly diferent than the figures in his Reed
Declaration The Court reproduces whatielieves to be the ost accuratéigures here.
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Dr. Bendicklaterproduced aevised report (theRevised Declaratidh on June 1, 2018, in

which he adjusted thestimated shafdll of work hours downward to 203,331 work hours.

C.

Dr. Bendick’s Rebuttal Declaration

Defendants consulted with Dr. Carole Amidon, an econompéstializng in analyzing

labor economics, statistics, large databases and applied econgnetessew Dr.Bendick’s

work. In their motonto strike Dr. Bendicks opinion, Defendantattached a report by Dr.

Amidon criticizingseveral aspects d@r. Bendick’s analysis.Dr. Bendick subsequently

submitted a rebuttaieport recalculating his eishates accordigpto some of B Amidon's

critiquest! Dr. Bendick concludethat the adjusted analysis still yields statistically sigaific

shortfalk from 20020 2013

Shortfall Analysis from Dr. Bendick’s Rebuttal Declaration

Year Expected NHAA amorg Persons | Shortfall inNHAA | Standard
NHAA Refared Referrals Deviations
Refarals

2009 27.4% 3.9% 23.5% 9.3

2010 27.4% 5.3% 22.1% 14.5

2011 27.4% 6.4% 21.0% 17.2

2012 27.4% 7.4% 20.0% 22.4

2013 27.4% 13.2% 14.2% 12.6

2014 27.4% 34.6% No shortfall

2015 27.4% 39.0% No shortfall

2009-2013 | 27.4% 8.1%" 19.3% 35.6

Total

1 Dr. Bendick writes that he incomprated Dr. Amidn’s “suggested modifications” into his ngtal

declargion. Doc. 7146 at 3. Defendants and Dr. Amidorsplute this characterization and argue that her

critiques did not offesuggestions that would neceslayield an &curate result.
12 presumablyre average representation figure for NHAA among GSB referrals is lower in Dr.
Bendick’s rebuttal declaration than it was in Dr. Bendick’s original report becauggeatambenf
addresses were incorporated in the analptsing greateweight on theyears with a shortfall.
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ANALYSIS

Motion to Strike Marc Bendick’s Expert and Rebuttal Repaots

Before consideringhe motion ébr certification, the CourtonsiderdDefendantsmotion
to strikeDr. Bendick’s expert reportsDefendants arguthat the Courttsould strikeDr.
Bendick’s Revised Declaration because it is insufficiently reliable utgestandards set forth
in Daubertand Federal Rule of Evidence 70Refendants also argue that the Court should
strike Bendick’s rebuttal declargtn for being procedurally and substantivatyproper.

A. Legal Standard

“[W]hen an expets report or testimuy is critical to classettification . .. a district court
must conclusively rule on any challenge to the expert’'sfousions or sibmissions por to
ruling ona class certification motioh Am. Honda Motor Co. v. Allei®00 F.3d 813, 815-16
(7th Cir. 2010). Federal Rule of Evidence 702 Badbertv. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals
Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993), gevn the admissibity of expert evidenceSeeBielskis v. Louisville
Ladder, Inc, 663 F.3d 887, 893 (7th Cir. 2011). Together, Rule 70Dautbertprovide that an
expert s testimony is admissible if) the witness is qualified, #)e expers methodology is
reliable,and3) the testimony will asist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to
detemine a fact in issueMyers v. lll Cent. R.R. Cp629 F.3d 639, 644 (7th Cir. 2010). The
Rule 702 inquiry Is a flexible one.” Daubert 509 U.Sat594. ‘Determnations on
admissibility slould not supplant the adversarial procesBaky expert testnony may be
admissible, assailablgy its opponents througitoss-examination."Gayton v. McCoy593 F.3d
610, 616 (7th Cir. 2010). The proponenfthe testimonyearsthe burden of provinthat the
proffered testimony meets these requirements, an8dtenth Circuit grants the distrimourt

“wide latitude inpeforming its gatekeeping function.”Bielskis 663 F.3d at 894.
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B. Dr. Bendick's Qualifications

“Whethera witness is qualified ashaexpert can only be determined by comparing the
area in whichthe witness has superior knowledge, skill, experiencejumagon with the subject
matter of the witness testimon.” Gayton 593 F.3dat 616 (quoting Carroll v. Otis Elevator
Co,, 896 F.2d 210, 212 (7th Cir. 1990Defendantslo not contesbr. Berdick’s qualification
as an expertHe has served as an expwitness or consultant in more than 200 cases where he
has analyzed issues includingtiemographics gbb-sekers, processes rgd to recruitment,
hiring, promotion, compensation and diditip of employees, as well as dareador workers
denied wok opportunities. Dr. Bendick has authored 138 research papers, including articles in
peer-reviewed journa. Federal and state coaracross the country have considered his
testimony as an expdn the field of labor economicsSee, e.gHardie v. Nat! Collegiate
Athletic As®1, 876 F.3d 312, 320-21 (9thrC2017) (racial disparities iniring); Houserv.
Pritzker, 28 F. Supp. 3d 222, 243 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (racial disparities in hiri@mpilar to these
cases, DrBendickseeks to testify regardingacial disparities in MVPs referrals to GSB. He is
qualified to do so.

C. Admissibility of Rebuttal Declaration

Defendantdring two motions tatrike. First,they ask the Court tdisregardDr.
Bendick’s rebuttal declaratiothat Plaintiffs submitted tadefend the admissibility of Dr.
Bendick’s experteport. Defendantsnitially argue thatit is an unsworn tesay statement based
on 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1746, which requires statements prepared outsigeldrited States to be
sworn “undetthe laws of the Unigt Sates of Americd. While Dr. BendicKs original rebuttal
declaration did not comply witthis requirementhe has sincee-execuéd his rebuttal

declarationn accordance with the status® ths issue is moot.
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Second, Defendamtargue thaportionsof therebuttal declaration offéwholly new
expert opinions” that are not admissible under RuleB#&lerv. Sears Roebuck Co. (“Butler
1"}, No. 06 C 7023, 2010 WL 2697601, at *1 (N.D. Ill. July 7, 201R)le 26(a)(2)(D) requés
parties to disclas expert witnesgestimony “at the times and in the sequethe the court
orders.” A pan may submit a fieuttal report “intended solely to contradict or rebut evidence on
the same subject iden&tl by another party.” Fed. R. CiR. 26(a)(2)(D)(ii). Additionally, Rule
26(e) requires parties supplement thedisclosures itheylearnthat theinitial disclosures were
materially“incomplete or incorrect. However,"[a] rebuttal expert report ‘cannot be used to
advance new arguents or new evidende support plaintiffs experts initial opinions” Lowe
v. CVS Pharmacy, IncNo. 14 C 3687, 2017 WL 2152385, at *2 (N.D. Illl. MBy, 2017)
(citation omitted).“The proper function of rebuttal/elence is to contradict, impeach or defuse
the impact othe evidence offered by an adverse partyeals v. TerréHaute Police Dejp, 535
F.3d 621, 630 (7th Cir. 2008itation omitted) see alsdtanfield v. DartNo. 10 C 6569, 2013
WL 589222, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 14, 2013)A"party may not offer testimay under the guise of
‘rebuttal’ only to provide additional support for his case in chi@lting Peals 535 F.3d at
630)).

The contested portions of Dr. Bendisk’ebuttal declaration, detailingshrevised
calculations accordingtDr. Amidon’s critiques,could arguably fall on either side of the case-
in-chieffrebuttal dichotomy.As Defendats point outDr. Bendick opinedhat hisestimates in
the rebuttal declaration are less accurate thaastimates in the Revised Declaration. He
testifiedthatthey are nonetheless useful“temonstrate how, if Dr. Amidos’suggestions are
followed, they do or do not chge the findings andonclusions” in his expert report. Doc. 714-

6 at 13. Thus, the Court primarilyregiders Dr. Bendicls rebuttal declarain as an attempt to
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“defuse the impatof Dr. Amidon’s critiquesPeals 535 F.3d at 630ather than aswvholly
new opinionsto bdster class certificatiqgrButler |, 2010 WL 2697601, at *1.

Defendants correctlgote that “point[ing] out an ostensibla” in Bendick’s expert
analysis does ridrigger a duty to correct thexpert report uner Rule 26(e).See Berkheimer v.
HewlettPackard Co.No. 12 C 9023, 2016 WL 3030170, at *5 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 201Rufé
26(e) is not a back door that can be usedupplementexpert reports ad infiim[.]”). But
Defendants’ relince on Rule 26(a¥ misplaced becausiedoes not limit tle Courts ability to
consider supplemental disslures in its discretionTalbert v. City of Chicagd236 F.R.D. 415,
421 (N.D. lll. 2006) (“The Rule, by its plain terms, imposes duties on thtgepait does not
purport to limit a cart's discretion undr Rule 26(a)(2)(C) to direct thémes and . . the
sequencein which expert rports should be filed.”). “So long as [teepplemental disclosure]
does not enthsome greater harm to the opponent of the tegound discretion wdd seem to
counsehllowing the supplemental report to be filedd. Here, not only did Defendants have an
opportunity to respond to Dr. Bendick’s rebuttal declaration, Dr. Amided & rebuttal
declaration of Br own on September 6, 2018.

Additionally, one of Defendantshain contentions for striking Dr. Bendick’sport,
discussed further belows that he unjustifiably relied on the tof 18,191 Referrals as part of
his analysis, rendering his conclusidragpelessly flawedDefendants have hadcopy of the
List of 18,191 Referrals since 2014, whHelaintiffs firstasked Defendants to verifysiiccuracy.
Defendants refuse@ven thagh they could have addressed many of Dr. Amidon’s cone¢rns
that time Their newfoundritiques are the priary reason Dr. Bendick submitted a rebuttal
declaration in the fitsplace. If Defendants want to keidhe ball for several years on such a

certral issue, the Court will not punish Ridiffs for submitting a belatérebuttal report
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D. Reliability of Estimated Expected Represntation

Defendants argue thBfr. Bendick’s expected representation statistice anreliable
because Dr. Bendick failed to properly vet the accuracy and conteiess of datapon which
he relied 2) improperly reliel on an assistath makecalculations that cannot be replicated
3) excluded almost halif the relevant geographic area in his calculations, afelld)l toreport
margins of error.The Court considersdle arguments in turn.

Defendats first conteniion isthatDr. Bendickfailed to \erify the completeness or the
significance othedataupon which he fed to calculate the expected representation figure.
Defendants argue thtefirst misstep waarbitrarily excludng 3,498alternateaddesses$® for
some dthelaborersn the Listof 18,191 ReferralsPlaintiffs respond that this was proper
because including several addredees single employee plasmore weight on some
individuals than others, making the twice as important Doc. 714-6 § 8. Plaiiffs argue this
is particuarly appropriate for some addresses that are obviouslydeut§iMVP s reasonable
recruitmentarea, such as addresses fiGdifornia and Florida.

The Caurt understands that Dr. Bendick disregardedresses from other statescause
theyfall outsidethe reasonableecrutment areaf an employe offering minimumwage
temporarnjobs. But,with respect to addressisthe Chicagoland aredlantiffs offer little
more than an axiomatassurancéhat double-counting is wrong. sAOr. Amidon argues, the
expected represatton estimate begins by determining the reasonable recruiarent
according to the largest PUMAhat account for 95% offegrals. If an employee came to MVP

from one address one year and returned to warkliéP using a diferent address in another

3 Dr. Amidon conteds there are 3,552 alternate addresses that Dr. Bendick exalonethé List of
18,191 Referrals, but it is unelefrom the partiedriefs which number is accurate.

29



year, it is plausible that both addresses tilterslevant fordetermining the reasonable
recruitment area.

Dr. Bendick coterdsthat it isnonethelesstandard practice to rely on the first address
listed inemployer recorddecause this is the addreglsere the employer can most likely reach
the employee Relying on the first address listed midget appropriate when integiing the
employer’s original records. Dr. Amidon concedes tfi§ti$ reasonable practicamong labor
economists and other elogment analysts to draw certain inferenaesf business records
organized by an employer in arhan resources informationsgm.” Doc. 653 { 7 But that is
not what happened here. Instead, Plaintiffs’ celognpiled the List of 18,191 Referrals from
the Master Address List aiver 64,000 refeals, so Dr. Bendick did not rely on primary source
material. In this situatiqrit is not clear that thtalternaté 3,498addresseareany more or less
relevant han tle addresseBr. Bendick included in Bianalysis

The parties also dispute howakRitiffs’ counselcompiled the List of 18,191 Refelsa
and Defendants critiguer. Bendick for failing to consider whether he should have included an
additional 4,862 addesses in the Mast Address Lisaisa part of his analysisDr. Bendick
points out that these adigses likely relate to work refafts from prior to 2009 and would “not
be standard professional practice among economists and other employatgsisen rely on
these [] records of unclear origin and relevahdeoc. 714-6 11 But Plaintiffs hae not
satisfactorily explained hothey culled the Master AddssList to ensurehelList of 18,191

Referrals only included relevant addresSes.

In her first report Dr. Andon contendshtere were an additional 5,710 addresses Btairtiffs’ counsel
excludel, but it is unclear from thparties’ briefs which number is accurate.

15> Plaintiffs counsel dsputes that the Master Address List was formatted as a CSinélleontendthat
it contained an “Address” and “Alternate Addresstdjérom which he could easily extract the primary
address.SeeDoc. 6441, Williams Decl. 4. Plaintiffsreturned the original disc containing the Excel
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Without knowing how the List of 18,191 Refesalascompiled, Defendants make a
persuasivargument thabDr. Bendick’s ultimate conclusiofs na reliable “Reliability [unde
Dauberi, however, is primarily a question of the validity of the methodologyleyed by an
expert, not the quality of the data used in applying the methodology or the conclusions
produced.” Manpower, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of R&.32 F.3d 796, 806 (7tBir. 2013);Smith v. Ford
Motor Co, 215 F.3d 713, 718 (7th Cir. 2000)W]e emphasie that he court’'s gatekeeping
function focuses on an examination of the expert’'s methodologgdme caselaw supports the
notion that courts can use questble sources of data ggounds to exclude an expert’s opinion.
See Macy v. Whirlpool Corpg613 F. App’x 340, 344 (5th Cir. 2015) (“[A]n expertesimony
must be reliable at every step, indhgithe methodologemployed, the facts underlyingeth
expert’s opinion, and thenk between the facts and the conclusigrSommerfield v. City of
Chicagq 254 FR.D. 317, 324 (N.D. lll. 2008) (N]otwithstarding the wide latitude accorded
experts in chosing the sources on which to base opinions, those sources must be shown to be
reliable’). As Defendants argue, the subset of addresses Dr. Bendick reliedhahdrbist of
18,191Referrals is the cornerste of Dr. Bendicks expected representation estimates and his
failure to investigate how the lishme about gives the Court soomncern about the accuracy of
his conclusions See Forte v. Liquidnet Holdings, In6.75 F. App’x 21, 24 (2d Cir. 2017)A"
failure to validate data by itself can constitute groundsxoluding an expert repor);"Munoz
v. Orr, 200 F.3d 291, 301-02 (5th Cir. 2000p¢: Benz relied on the plaintiffcompilations of
data, which gies rise to a&commonsense skepticismmegading the expert’s evaluation, and did

not se& to verify the ifiormation presented to him(titations omitted))In re Testokerone

files to Defendants in thenidst ofthe case. Although Defendantspmduced thiglisc, which catained
CSV formatted files, Plaintiffs still maintain that the original files were not in CSV formashart, the
Cout cannot come to any definitive conclusiontmw Plaintiffs culled thélaste Address List to create
the List of 18,19Referrals.
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Replacement Therapy Prod. Liab. Litilo. 14 C 1748, 2018 WL 3586182, at *12 (N.D. IlI.
July 26, 2018) (expert whelied onsummaries of pertinent information congallby paintiff’s
attorneydid not adequately investigate evidetzeender expe opinion). But the Seventh
Circuit has held that an accounting exmemrely on information furniked by the plaintifs
attaney to render an expert opinion on theueabf lost future eaings. Tuf Racing Prod., Inc.
v. Am. Suzuki Motor Corp223F.3d 585, 591 (7th Cir. 2000)As the Seventh Circuit
commented iManpower “[t] hatthe expert accodant inTuf could opine oriuture earnings on
the basis of informatiosuppliedby counseshould make clear that the reliktlyi of the data
itself is rot the object of th®aubertinquiry. The reliability of data and assumptions uged
applying a methdology is tested by the adversarial process and determined by thiagury
court’s role is generally limited to assessing thliability of the methodogy—the
framework—of the expert analysis. 732 F.3d at 808 Here, Defendantsadnot contest the
methodology, or perhaps moaecurateljthe frameworkof Dr. Bendidk’s analysis Instead,
Defendants contest that Dr. Bendfeked to properly vet theriginal data fileson which he
relied rendering his conclusions faulbgcause theada isof questimablerelevance Butthe
“Daubertinquiry is not designed to have thistdct judge takehe place of the jury to decide
ultimate issues of credibilitgnd accuracy,Lapsley v. Xtek, Inc689 F.3d 802, 805 (7th Cir.
2012), includinghe “soundness of the factual underpinningéttee expert opiniopFord Motor
Co, 215 F.3d at 718. Defenuls raise valid criticismef the dataon which Dr. Bendick rétd.
These critiquego to the weight of Dr. Bendick’analysisnot its admissitiity. Manpower 732
F.3d at 807-08.

Defendantstemainingargumentsegarding thexpected representation diige similarly

go to the weight of Dr. Bendick’s testimonipefendants point out that Dr. Bendick relied on a
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consultant, Warren Glimpse, to doding work andcalculate the estimated demographic
composition of people who were likely to be qualified, available, and interesMVP referrts
within the relevant PUMAsPart of the reason Dr. Bendick worked with Glimpse is because he
is proficient n a computer cod@ which Dr. Bendick does natrite. After producing thesame
code to Defendants, however, Dr. Amidmuld nd replicateall of Glimpsés figures, and
during his deposition Dr. Bendick could not explain what caused the discrepancy. &afend
argue that D Bendick’s testimony ishterefore inadmissibleSeeZenith Eles. Corp. v. WHFV
Broad. Corp, 395 F.3d 416, 419 (7th Cir. 2005) (“Someone else usinggime data and
methods must be able to replicate the re9ult.

Experts can relpnassistants to foulate an opinioyDura Auto. Sys. of Ind., Inc. v.
CTS Corp. 285 F.3d 609, 612 (7th Cir. 2002), and can rely on an assistant’s work within a
certain dscipline without being amxpert in that disciplinehemselvesWalker v. Soo Line RR.
Co,, 208 F.3d 581, 589 (7th Cir. 2000Ngr do we believe that the leader of a clinical medical
team nust be qualied as an expert in evy individual discipline encopassed by the team in
order to testify as to the teasnconclusion$). The*[a]nalysis becomes mercomplicated if the
assisants areft merely gofers or data gatherers but exercise siofeal judgnent that is
beyond the expert’'s kenDura, 285 F.3d at 613. In other words, @xpert cannot serve as the
mouthpiece for another expett. at 614. Here,however,Glimpse perdrmedgeocoding work
under Dr. Bendicls supervision and direction—workahother courts have fad to involve
straightforwad calculations as opposed to “a host of discretionary expert judgméahtat’615;
seealsoEEOC v.DHL Express (USA), IncNo. 10 C 6139, 2016 WL 5796890, at *5 (N.D. Ill.
Sept. 30, 2016(finding asistants geocoding work d[id] not raise the conces voiced by the

court inDura”). Further, the fact that Dr. Amidon could not rieple precisely theame
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estimate of African Americans expected to be interested in MVP referrals doasanddr.
Bendck's testimony is inadrasible. Defendants rely oderith, whichinvolved an expert who,
as the Seventh Circuit put it, relied on héspert intuitiorf to forecast a compaisyhypahetical
projected growth. 395 F.3d at 418- Intuition is rot a methodhat can be testedd. at 419.
Here, by contrast, Defendants do reslly dispute¢hatgeocoding is an acceptable methodology
thatcan be testedonly thattheyreached a slight different result after crunching the numbers.
Dr. Bendick, for exampleestimated there to He606NHAA from PUMA number03408 that
were interested in MVP referrals, while Dr. Amidon estimated the nutaties 1,667.This
could be due to any numbehrariableswith which an expert could tinkerMore importantly,
Plaintiffs discbsed the code that Glirap usedso Defendants have the tools they neduytto
verify or falsify Glimpsés figures. The fad¢ that theyreachednarginaly differentestimates—
differences that, as Plaintiffs point out, make no significapéct on the inal analysis—is not a
reason to excludBr. Bendick’s testimony SeeFord Motor Co, 215 F.3dat 718 (“The
soundness of theétual undinnings of theexperts analysis and theorectness of the
experts conclusions based on that analysesfactual matters tbe determinedby the trier of
fact[.]”).

Next, Defendants argue that Dr. Bendick arbitrarily excluded 869 addresses, located in
thirty additionalPUMAs, from his calculattns But determining a reasonable recruitment area
necessanl means thabDr. Bendick must excludeome PUNMs. Economists determiran
employers reasonable recruitment area according to the arearipleyer “usuallyseeks or
reasonhly could seek workers to fill the position in questiolbc. 714-6 § 1Zciting
requirenents for affirmativeaction programs under £1LF.R8 60-2.14which requiredederal

contractorgo separately determine the @adility of qualified minoritiesandwomen available
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for employmentto establish a benchmark against which the demographipasition of the
contractors incunbent workforce can be comeal’). Dr. Bendick included the PUMASs that
accounted for over 95%f the referrals. ricluding thePUMAS that account for less th&% of
referralswoulddo little to define the area from whiem employer usually draws workefs.

Finally, Defendants critize Dr. Bendick for failing to report a margin of error for each
PUMA included in his analysis. Defeats argue that since the ACS is based on a sample of
the population within each PUMA, tieeis necessarily anrer rate atiched to each PUMA.

But the margin of error for each separate PUMA ispanticularly relevat becausehe

estimaed expected repsentation figure ibased a all of the PUMAscombined. Defendants do
not explain how thenargin of error for ach individuaPUMA would assist djudge o evaluate
how potential error . . . may have affected thewigtd pattern of responsedoc. 60lat 23
(citing Shari Seidmabiamond,Reference Manual on Scientific Evide3&2 (Natl Acads.
Press3rd ed. 2011).

In summay, “[t]he critical inquiryis whether there is a connection between the data
employed andhe opinion offered; it is the opinion connected to existing data ‘only bpsee
dixit of the expert,that is properly excluded under Rule 702fanpower 732 F.3d at 806
(citation omittel). Here, there is more than a connection between the dataraBemlick's
estimatedepresentationdure Critiques regardinthe quality of the data on whitte relieddo

not render his inion inadmissible.

18 Dr. Bendick also states that he exclutiagh-incomeareas, such as Chicago’s Gold Coast, because few
workersinterestedn low-paid jobs with MVP were likely to reside these areasBut if there were
significant referrals from these aretsat would sem to undercut Dr. Bendick’s assumption Hrags

like the Gotl Coastare exlusively highincome neighborbodswith few workers interested ilow-pad

jobs. But, ashest as the Cotican tell, thee were not a substantial number of homdresises fronthis

area.
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E. Reliability of Estimated Actual Represengtion

Defendants argue that Dr. Bendislestimated actual representation figures are
unreliable becawsDr. Bendick 1) could natientify the sourcéor the data in the List of 11,255
Referra$, 2) underestimated the grortionof NHAA amongGSB referrad, 3) failed to estimate
the race for more than a quarter of GSB referaaisl 4)relied ontwo different source®f data
from theCensus Bureatp estimatdhe expected representation figure and the actual
representatiofigures, respectively.

First, Defendants point out thaDr. Bendick s unable to explain whehe obtained the
addressethat he used toompile the List of 11,25Referralsand therefor®r. Amidon cannot
recreatea crucial conponent of his calculationsSimilar to Defendants’ argumentegarding the
List of 18,191 Referrals, these concerns go to the weight, rathehthadrissibilityof Dr.
Bendick’stestimony Manpower 732 F.3d at 807-08Significantly, Defendantslo notallege
thatDr. Bendick paired names to the wrong adsiessWhateverthe source of theddresses
they must haveriginatel in Defendants’ materialsDefendants asfor too much when they
demandstepby-step instructionsn how toreplicateDr. Bendick’scalculations.
Studiengesellschaft Kohle, m.b.H. v. Dart Indus.,, 1862 F.2d 1564, 1580 (Fed. Cir. 1988)
(“[T] he opinian testimony of expert wigsses need not @in step-bystep calculabns’). The
more important considerationughether Defendasthave the tools necessary to f@st
Bendick’s results, &sal on the data and methods disclos&enith 395 F.3d at 419 (“An expert
must offer god reason to think that his approach produee accurate estimate using
professional methods, and thisiestte must be testable.”). Withspgect to thé.ist of 11255

Referrals they do.
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Second, Defendants argue that Dr. Bendick underestimated thetjmopd NHAA
referrals because he incoridgassigned referrals witlut anaddressa 0%probability of being
NHAA. During his depositioyDr. Bendicktestifiedthathe had intended to excludeferrals
without an addresisom his calculation, rather thancluding them. Then, in his rebuttal
dechration, Dr. Bendickestifiedthat it is“unclear whether inciding or excluding zeros when
computing the representation[dfHAA] increases or decreases the accuracy and reliability o
the estimaté. Doc. 714-6. His reasoningvas thatdiscriminatoryhiring preferences migltave
caused MVP to record leasldressefor NHAA, in which case excludinthpese referrals would
overestmate NHAA representationThe problenwith this reasonig is that itplaces the car
before the hoes Dr. Bendicks analysiss offered tahelp demonstratdat MVP and GSB
colluded in aacially-discriminatory referral practiceBut assuming at éhautset that the
Defendants discriminated against Plaintdfsd controlling the varidés a if that wee true
would undermine thasefulness of the statisticEEOCv. Sears, Roebuck & C&28 F. Supp.
1264, 1286 (N.D. Ill. 1986) [T]he assumptions adeby a statistician in formulating a model
can be far morenportant than the numericeomplexities ad results of the analysidVithout a
sound theoretical basis, which is carefully reas@reticlosely tailoredtthe factuh
circumstances of the aaghe statistical results can be meaningi@saffd, 839 F.2d 302 (7th
Cir. 1988). Ultimately, Dr. Bendick’s reason for inading referrals without an addressnist
“too complex for the jury” to understan&tollings v. Rybi Techs., InG.725 F.3d753, 766 (7th
Cir. 2013). Thus, this too goes to the weighther than the admissiityl of his analyss. Id.
(“The judge shoulgermit thejury to weigh the strength of the expsréonclusins, provided
[the] shortcomings & within the realm of a Ygjuror's understanding.”). Dr. Amidon, however,

ran thenumbers excludingeferrals wihout an addre$$and Dr. Bendick incorporatedese

7 Dr. Amidon does not endorse these figuas accurate estimates of actual representation. She
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figures into higebuttd declaration For the reasons stated above, the Court finds tetsBates
of the actuaftepresentation rate be more ibrmative than the figures in Dr. BendickRevised
Dedaration Consigent with Dr. Bendick's preferenceto opt for themoreconservate of two
plausibleestimatesthe Courtplacesmore weighbon the estimated actuapresentation figuse
in Dr. Bendick’s rebuttal declaration in considering the motiorcéotification

Third, Defendants argue that Dr. Bendick failed to assign addresses to maae than
quarter of GSB referraf$ renderinghis cdculations inherently umliable because he fails to
considerthatreferralswithout an ddresshad a greater chaa of beingNHAA than the referrals
with addesses In other words, the referrals with an address mighbaaepresentative of the
entire ppulation of people refezdto GSB during any single year. FurthBefendants argue
the 72.4% figure is misleaty because Dr. @dick assigned a probability to roughly half of the
referrals in 2009 to 20104wo yearstat had the largest shortfallsle assigned a probability to
more than 80% of referrals in 2014 to 201fsve- years that&d, according t@efendantglikely
no shortéll in NHAA representation As Dr. Bendick explains, the primary reason he did not
have addresses for some of thterralsis thatDefendantgrovidedincomplete data sets:or
theremainingreferralsDr. Berdick eithercould not placéhe address withia census block or
the CensuBureau did not have useful information foatparticularblock. Defendants
essentiallyblame Dr. Bendick foffailing to investigate why the records they provided him were
of such poor quality. Again, this goes to the weight afforded Dr. Bendioklyss, not its

admissibility. Walker, 208 F.3d at 586-87.

calculated thdigures to demonstrate that exdiog referras without an adekss (and thefere ones that
did not have an assigned probabilifypeing NHAA) increases the actual representation estimates.
18 Dr. Bendick states that he assigrgarobabilityto 73.5% of referralacross all years to calculate the
estimated actual represematfigures, btiDefendants argue that he only assignpdoability to 724%
of the referrals.
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Defendantsalsoargue that Dr. Bendick'salculation of the sbrtfall in hours workedls
unreliablebecaus®r. Bendick reled on incomplete data fursihed by Defendast Soecifically,
Defendars point out thathe Yearly GSB Hours Filesontained namesral hourdor referrals
thatdid not orrespondieatly withdat in theYearly Cicero Address FilesSome of the
employeeslsohad, as Defendants cill “suspect hots,” Doc. 601 at 28, includg some hat
had accumulated more than 2,000 honra singleyear. For atemporary position that was
supposed to lastonmore than ninety days, Defendants point out that hours of this magnitude
tend toreflecta full-time employe instead of temporary lhorer!® Defendants argughat these
issues'warranted furtheimvestigation, not blind relianceDoc. 601 at 28.For the same
reasons outlined above, this goes to the weight given Dr. Bendick’s testirecawyse it deals
with the “factual underpinningssf his analysis Ford Motor Co, 215 F.3d at 718.

Additiondly, Dr. Bendicks shortfall analysis with respect toure workeds, in the Court’s
view, much less significardt the class certification stag@n the expected representation and
actual r@resentation figuresThe shortfall in hours primarily relevant to determing
damages.

Finally, Defendants argue that Dr. Bendgkéstimony is unreliable because he used
demographic informatiofrom the ACSto egimate hisexpected representatiomytire but relied
on the decennialensus to estimate the actual representatiten Defendants argue that this
rendershis calculations unreliable according‘tccepted scientdistandards, including those

desribedby the Bueau responsible for publisiy both data sets.” Doc. 601 at Zbhis is what

19 Although MVP and GSB had an agreement that it would not employ lakasréesporary assignmsn
for more thaminety days, they may have ignoréuis rule. Formerclass representativeurt, for

instance testified thathe worked more thamnetydays at GSB whout being offered a permant
position. SeeDoc. 700-1 at 185-86. It seems this is at leaghe plausible explanation for why MVP kept
recads d these hours, so it is not obviousttla. Bendick sould have excluded the numbers from his
analysis.
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the Census Bureau statéldse caution in comparing ACS data withtdfrom the decennial
census or other sources. Every survey uses different methods, which éectlthaf
comparability of the numbers.” U.S. Census BurdaGompass for Understanding and Using
American Commuty Survey DataWhat General Data Usersdgdto Know p. 25, U.S.
Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 200gis cautiorary instructon does ot mean
that a comparison between data from one source and data from the other nedegsatgyfrom
“accepted scientific standardoc. 601at29. The Court ventures to guess that Dr. Bendick
used tle ACS data to estimate the exfgecrepesentatia figure because it providedata
relevant for determining the population likeétyseek wrk at MVP, sub as those who are part
of the labor fore and who earn less than the median salary for the Chicago metropolitan area.
Census blocks, by ctmast, cosistof smaller geographical units that provide a better predictor
that a person with a e address lotad within the census block is of a carteace which is
the onlyCensus Bureau datalevant to DrBendick’s actual representatiestimate
Deferdants offer nsubstantive argument for why Dr. Bendick could not rely on botA@®
and the decennial censinshis analysis

In sum,Dr. Bendck’s estimates for bottheexpectedand actual representati figures
are sufficiently retble for the Courto consider as part of Plaintiffsotion for class
certification. Defendants’ critique go to the weight that should be affordedtéstimony not its
admissibility.
Il. Class Certification

Plaintiffs seeko certify the following class:

African-Americanlaborers who sought work assignments through
MVP and wereotherwise eligible to work at G but on one o

more occasion were not assigredvorkat GSB when a position
for which they were otherwise quaéti wasavailable during the
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period offour yearsprior to the filing of thePlaintiffs’ Original
Complaint for the 8981 claims up through and including
December 312014.
Doc. 700 at 38.
A. Lega Standard
Class certification is appropriate where a plaintiff can meet the four requirenfdrule
23(a)—numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy of representation. Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(a). Additionally a plaintiff must also satisfy one ofetlinree subsections of Rule 23(b). Fed.
R. Civ. P. 23(b)Oshana v. Coca-Cola Cp472 F.3d 506, 513 (7th Cir. 2006). Here, Plaintiffs
seek certification under Rule 23(b)(3), which requires a fopthat ‘questims of law or fact
common to class membgrsedominate over any questions affecting only individual members,
and that a class actionsspeior to othe available methods for fidy and efficiently
adjudicating the controversyFed. R. CivP. 23(b)(3). Finally, although not an explicit
requiremaent of Rule 23, the party seeking certification must dernatesthat the class members
areidenifiable. Oshana472 F.3d at 513.
The Court has broad discretion in determining whetbearertifya proposedlass Keele
v. Wexler 149 F.3d 589, 592 (7th Cir. 1998). The party seeking certification bears the burden of
demonstrating theacertification & proper by a preponderance of the evidemtessner v.
Northshore Univ. HealthSyste®69 F.3d 802, 811 (7th Cir. 2012). The Court must engage in a
“rigorous analysi$, resolving material factual disputes whereessary.Wal-Mart Stoes, Irc.
v. Dukes564 U.S. 338, 350-51 (201Bzabo v. Bridgeport M&s., Inc, 249 F.3d 672, 676 (7th
Cir. 2001). But “[i]n conducting [the Rule 23] analysis, the cebould not turn the class
certification proceeidgs into a dessrehearsal for the trial aime merits. Messner669 F.3d at

811;Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans & Tr. Fungé8 U.S. 455, 465—-6@013) (merits
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guestions are to be considered only to thergxteevantto determiimg if Rule 235
prerequisites armet).

B. Numerosity

Defendants do natontest that Plaintiffs mighie nunerosity requirenentin this case.
According to Dr. Bendick’s analysithere was an approximate shortfallamfywhere fron84 to
668°° NHAA laborerseach yeafrom 2009 to 2014. The shortfall each year is nearly enough to
constitute a class in ite Phillips v. Waukegan Hous. Autt831 F.R.D. 341, 350 (N.D. Il
2019)(“While there is no magic number, forty or more members isrgépeonsderedto be
sufficient to satisfy the nuarosity requirement). Thus, Plaintiffs have met the numerosity
requirement.

C. Commonality

Rule 23(a)(2) provides that there must‘haestions of law or fact common to the class.
“Commonality requireshe plaintiff to demonstrat that the class membéhsave suffered the
same injury” Wal-Mart, 564 U.Sat 349-50 (citingGen Tel. Co. of Sw. v. Falcqr57 U.S.
147, 157 (1982)).There must be &ommon contentionthat is“capalbe of classwile
resoldion—which meanshat determination of its truth alsity will resolve an issuthat is
centrato the validity of each one of the claims in one strbKe. at 350. “[S]uperficial
common questionsdike . . .whether each clasmember ‘sufferd a violaion of the same
provision of law—are not enough.’Jamie S. v. Milwaukee Pub. So668 F.3d 481, 497 (7th

Cir. 2012) (quotingValMart, 564 U.S. at 350

20 These numbers come from Dr. Bendick’s Revised Declaratioriortunately, neither party includes
chart comparing the 29.5% expected repredgmmtfigure against the actual represematiigures that
exclude referrals without an address. silbuld, in the Court’s opinion, prode the mosinformative
estimates of the shortfall in representatibtere, the differences are insignificdrcause Deferaohts do
not contest theumerosityrequirement.
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Whether Plaintiffs can proceed on their claims on a classwide basisidapewhether
“examination of all the classnembersclaims for relief will ppduce a common answer to the
crucial questia why was | disfavoretl Wal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 352The existence of an illegal
policy may provide the “glue” to hold together classmbersclaimsin answeing this question.
Seelamie S.668 F.3d at 498uotingWal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 352). éte, Plaintiffscontend that
Defendants ingiuted such illegal policieby systemattally instructingon-site supervisa and
dispatchersat to referAfrican Americansto GSB.

In Falcon, the Supreme Court suggestedtbarties can showommonality in a pattern
or pracice casen one of two ways: 1) through proof that the employer used a biased company-
wide teding procedure to evaluate job applicants or current emplogeg¥through significant
proof of a genergbolicy of discrimination that manifesitself in the sara general fashion
throughoti the company Falcon, 457 U.Sat 159 n.15. SubsegntcasesincludingWal-Mart,
have found commonality lacking wheretdlegedly discriminatory policy is highly
discretionary and thplaintiffs do not identifya common way in whicthe defendants exercise
that discretion.SeeWal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 355-5@olden v. Walsh Constr. Ca688 F.3d 893,
896-98 (7th Cir. 2012yeversing class certification wheaieged disrimination resulted from
acts of individual spervisors exerciag independent discretionBut commonality will exist
where allegedly discrimatory general policies are enforced at the corporate lewberahan by
individual supervisors, even whelteere is some discretion in the policiexecuion. See
McReynolds v. Merrill Lynch, Piee¢ Fenner & Smith, Inc672 F.3d 482, 488-91 (7th Cir.
2012) @llowing class certification for disparate impactmizhallenging companysde
practices that locahamagers had to followjbrogated on other grounds by PhillipsSheiff of

Cook Qy., 828 F.3d 541 (7th Cir. 20L6¥cott v. Family Dollar Stores, IncZ33 F.3d 105, 114
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(4th Cir. 2013) (“[E]ven in caseshere the complaint alleges distion, if thee is also an
allegation of a companyide poligy of discriminaton, the putative class mayill satisfy the
commonality requirement for certification.”’As the Seventh Circultasstated “a company-
wide pradiceis appropriate foclass challenge even where some decisions in the chain of acts
challenged as discrimatory can be exercised mcal managers with discretierat least where
the class at issue is affected in a common manner, such as where ahamgasm policy or
process applied to all.Chicago Teachers Union, Local No. 1 v. Bd. of Educ. of City of Chjicago
797 F.3d 426, 43{¢7th Cir. 2015).

Defendants ange thatPlaintiffs have not pradedsignificant proofof a ganeral policy of
disaimination. They argue that MVP supervisors angatisherdad individual discretion to
hire andreferworkersbasd on a number of factors, including thaiior experiencgwillingness
to abide by GSB’§MPs, or avdability to work shifts that were in deamd. See Jones v. GES
Exposition Servs., IncNo. 02 C 6243, 2004 WL 2011396, at *9 (N.D. lll. Sept. 7, 2004 (“
decentralized hiring procedure, which allows decisionmakers to consider sigbfactors, may
supportindividual claims of discriminatio but cuts against the assertion that an employe
engages in a pattern or practice of discratmny hiring as atandard operating proced
(internal quotatioomarksomitted) (citation omitted)) Defendants contend that the statistical and
anedotal evidence does nothing to overcome the inhtyendividualized naturef Plaintiffs
claims.

The Cout disagres. First, Dr. Berdick’s analysigprovides persuasive evidence that
disparities in hiring can bexplained by a general policy of discriminaticsther than
individualized processesSee Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters v. United Staded U.S. 324, 339 n.20

(1977)(“ Statistics showing racial or ethnic imbalance aobgive . . .because such imbalance
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is often a telltalesign of purposeful discrimini@n; absent explanation, it is ordinarily to be
expected that natiscriminatory hiing practices will in timeesult in a work force more or less
representative of thecial and ethnic composition of the population in thengwnity from
which employeesra hired”). Neither partyincludes a chart comparing the 29.5%ected
represerdtion figure against theaual representation figuserom Dr. Bendicks rebuttal
declaraion, which the Court would find more probatittean the actual representation figure
Dr. Bendick's Revised DeclaratianBut ewen if the Court wee to simply refer to the rebuttal
declaratbn, which incorporates an even lower expected representajior fthere are
significant disparities in the representation of NHAA from 2002Qi8, the same ya this
lawsuit was initiated According to DrBendick, the shortfallareall statisticaly significant at
nine standard deviations or more. Statistisigenerally consider discrepancies of two or more
standard deviatiorstatisticaly significant. Perez v. City of BatavjdNo. 98C 8226, 2004 WL
2967153at *10 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 23, 2004) (Generally, statisticians believe that two standard
deviations is enough to show that the result is unlikely (less than a 5% probabbigyihie
realt of chance[]). These are stark figurabat suggesh conmonanswer to the cgral
guestionwhy were Afican Americanaborersdisfavored?Wal-Mart, 564 U.S. at 352.

The cases Defendants point to demonstrate that Dr. Bésdioklysisactuallyhelps
substariate Plaintiffs’commonclaim. Bennett v. Robertgvolved aminority job applicant who
claimed that a school district discriminated against her and similarly sitagpdidants because
of their race No. 96 C 6917, 2000 WL 781868, at #9.D. lll. June 15, 2000)Her claimrelied
in part on an exped’staistical analyss thatconcluded face hadd be a factor in hiring because
so few minorities were employday the District! Id. at *5. The parallel here would be if Dr.

Bendick onlyesimated thenumber of African Americans refe to GSBwith nothingelseand
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then concluded thanarbitrarily small numbeof referralswas proof of discriminationBut
Dr. Bendickcalculated thexpectedepresentatiofigure to provide context faheactual
representation figusg makingBennetinappositeo the fats inthis case.See also4l C.F.R
§ 60-2.14b) (requiring federal contractors establishing affirmatii@agrograms to
“separately determine the availability[gtialified minoritiesor women for each job group”
Defendants alo point toBetts v. Sndstrand Corp, wherethe plaintiffs offeredstatistics
showing that the population in Rockford, lllinoigas 15.1% African Americaand claimed
discrimination becaugbe defendant aporation's workforce was only 3.5% African Amiean.
No. 97 C 50188, 1999 WL 436579,*8 (N.D. Ill. June 21, 1999). Although one step further
alongthan the statistics offed inBennett the court similarly found thatliese statistics do not
paint hieentire pictur€. Id. at*4. Because thelaintiffs’ claims involvedhiring practices “the
applicant pool, inalding their qualifications, race and interest in the jobssakeifwals key in
determining the relevant statistitdd. The plaintiffsin Bettshad not controlled for any of these
factors. They had, for exaple, assumed that Rockfordvasthe appropate reasonable
recruitment area faleterminingthe expected representation of African Americans in the
workforce. Id. But the court notethat the"defendants recruitment efforts forrpfessionals
and managerare natiowide,; and that feJven with re@rds to entrylevel positions, plaintiffs
have not shown that it is proper to exclude areas close to Rockford, within Winneldago a
Boone counesl[.]” Id. Dr. Bendick, by contrasfirst determined the reasoralyvecruitnent
area for GSB baseuh the hore addressesf thoseMVP referred to GSBEEOCv. O & G
Spring& Wire Forms Specialty Cp38 F.3d 872, 876—77 (7th Cir. 1994Peterminirg the
relevant labor market is an essential stegetermining whethehere are my stdistically

significant devations between the market and the empl®yeiring patterns). Theresulting

46



cluster of PUMASs around the Chicagoland area is borne otliebgnecdotatvidence. Many
positions at GSBvere minimum wage job&at would nake along commute too expensive to
justify the costand,as Defendants acknowleddéVP recruited in areas close to the Cicero
office and to the bakery because individualthigse areas would have shorter commutes to
work. Dr. Bendick then daulated theexpested representation basenl the population that was
gualified, available, and interestedMVP work assignmentsomething that the plaintiffs in
BennettandBettsfailed to do.For the reasons already recounted,Bendick’s analysis
provides sigificant proof of a discriminaty pradice.

Plaintiffs havealso offered persuasive anecdotal evidence establishing andiisatory
policy. Greenand Zollicoffertestified hat dispatchers gavatino labaersassignmentthe
moment they walked in the do@venif they arrived after African mericanswvorkers whowere
thereearly andwaiting for assignmentsFormerMVP employees testiid that ths did not
happen randomlyCarretero, Ceja, Corradnd Sanchez atédifi edthat dispatchers and
supervisors regularly steered African Americans away from assignments hy tiedim to come
back the next dayalsely telling thenGSB was on a hiringreeze or crossing out thir names
on assignment lists based off of their surnani&s. Latino laborers, by contraslispatchers
immediatey gave them an assignment or Aegalling around to see dients hadpen
positions. Carreterotestified hatshe heard managers calliAfrican Americansiggers, and
“lazy, good-for-nothing ‘negros.” Doc. 700-1 at 136¢ja testified that she wagelled at by
representatives of cliecompanies” for assigngnthem African Americanand hat MVP’s
presidet warned her tacomply becauwshe did not want to lose the accoumd. at 153. Sachez

testified that Salgdo, GSB's plant nanagertold her he only wanted Latino workers.
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The fact thaM VP utllized adecentralizeddecisionmakingproessandMVP
supevisorsand disatchershad a eégree of autonomyo makereferraldecisions does not
precludePlaintiffs claim because they challenge Defendatgerarching policy against hiring
African Americans.Similar to McReynoldsthe maintenance of a mandgy, top-down policy
that causerdal digpaiitiesis sufficient to establish a canon question. 672 F.3d at 489-91
(explainingthat if companywide policies increased the amount éatimination by local
decisonmakers, “[tlhe incrementabhusal effect . . of those compamyide policiess—which is
the alleged disparate impaetould bemost efficiently determined on a clas&e basis”) see
alsoBeley v. City of ChicagdNo. 12 C 9714, 2015 WL 8153377, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 7, 2015)
(finding commonality rquirement metvherethe plaintiffs dhallengedhe Chicago Police
Departmerits allieged policy of refusing teegster homeless sex offenders, finding that varés
in interactions between individual police officers and blass sex offenders dibt ddeat
commonalitybecause the “purpa@t policy nonetheless shaped those interaction&® the
Seventh Circuit founth Chicago Teachers Unioit “is more efficient to answer the question
‘did these early discriminatory presses have a disparate impattrace’ just oa time rather
than oer and over again in multiple separate lawsuit@7 F.3d at 436 & n.5iading that if
objective critera in first steps ofurnaround process “narrowed the pool in such a way as to have
a disparate impact on Africelamerican teachs,” the plaintiffs had identified “the glue that
binds the claims wether without regard to the later, subjective step,” meahatgat
“discriminatay step in a chain of events” could provide a common question and affect the
“ultimate outcone”).

Thecases Bfendants rely oareinapplicable ér these same reass. InJones the

plaintiffs did not assert a discriminatory pgliof general application, only that various foreman
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were predominantly white and gave prefere to other white carpenténgraining andhiring
opportunities. 2004 WL 2011396, at *9. Theas if the Plaintiffs in this case had only alleged
that the apervisors and dispatchersneall Latino and therefore favored Latino job applicants.
In Stubbs v. McDonald Corp, the plaintiffs sought to certifa class that would have included
all African American employees of McDonaklfestaurants, that were owned or operated by
McDonalds Corporation, since 1996. 224 F.R.D. 668, 675 (D. Kan. 2004g. gaintiffs male
no allegaibns of a compayrwide policy against pomoting or hiringAfrican Americans and
theyconcededhat alldecisions were decentralized and supervisors at different locations were
given discretion to make promotionkl. Thecourt found that such allegatis involved

“myriad individud considerations” that would not la@propriatdor classwide adjudicationd.
Here,by contrastPlaintiffs have alleged thataragers, supervisors, and dispatctakadhered

to one policy no African Americans.

Defendants alsmake nuch of the fatthat several of the former MVP employesgy
provide testimony regarding events in 2014 and 20yd@&arsfor which “Plaintiffs own expert
found no statistically significant shortfall Doc. 711at 30, 37-38.To begin,Defendants
misrepresent Dr. Bendickifsdings. Dr. Bendick found a statisticaBjgnificant shortfall in
2014. Thealternative analysim his rebuttal declaration did not find a shortfall in 20140t
Bendik never renegion his initial estimte. Secondly, Gtiquing Dr. Bendick's analysis while
simultaneously arguing thatdisproves the anecdotal eviderstrikes the Court as
disingenuous But at this stge, the Court does not needdetermine whether Plaintiffeave
presented credible testimony that will allow thenpteval at trial. “Rule 23 grants courts no
licenseto engage in freeanging merits inquiries at the tification stage.Merits questbns may

be considered to the extent—but only to the extehatthey are relevant to determining
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whether the Rule2prerequiges for class certification are satisfiedXmgen 568 U.S. at 466.
How many times Plaintiffsisited MVP, or wiether they evenally received an assignment at
GSB, are peripheral issuestld@ not diminish their core contention.

Defendantslso arge that proposed class membetso received armssignment from
MVP do not have commatlaims againsGSBbecausé&SB did not intefere withthese
individuals’ ability to form an awill contrad with MVP. This misconstrusthe clas definition.
The classlaintiffs seek taertify is composed of African Americans who sought work and “on
one or more occasion were not assigned t&kwbGSB? Doc. 700 at 38.If a plaintiff can
show thahe wa denied a referral to GSB, thke h& a claim, regalless ® whetherhe received
an assignment to a differeclient. If a plaintiff cannot show thihe was denied ieeferral to
GSB, then he would fall outside of the proposed class definition.

In short,the statistical evidence and anecddtegether prode “significant proof”’ of a
“uniform employment praee” that caused a common injury to the cladgal-Mart, 564 U.S.
at 353-55. Plaintiffs have met the comonality requirenent.

D. Typicality

A plaintiff's claim is typical if it “arises fron the same evewr practice or course of
conduct that gives rise to the claims diatclass members and. her claims are based on the
same legal thery.” Oshana 472 F.3dat514 ¢iting Rosario v. Livaditis963 F.2d 1013, 1018
(7th Cir. 1992)). 8me factual vadtionswill not destroy typicality as long as the plaintiffs
“have the same essential characteristics as the claims of the class atlthrgtation omitted).
Typicality is determined with refenee to a defendastactions, not \h respect to spéfic
defenses a defendant may have against certain class menftegser v. NutraSweet C&5

F.3d 527, 534 (7th Cir. 1996).

50



Plaintiffs contend that they meet the typicality requiremermtabsethey each suffered
the same injungas a reglt of Defendand’ company-wide policiesinder the same circumstances.
Namely, they eachrrived at the Cicero offecearly, signed in, and waited unsessfullyfor
work even though other labens who arrived after them wepat on work tickets. Theylage
that all dass memers were denied work on one moreoccasioras a result of thallegedly
discriminatory hiring policy.

Defendants argue thBtaintiffs’ claims are not typicdlecause of each Plaintiff's igue
circumstancesTheyarguethat Geenstoppedrisiting theCicero office after he was stranded
during a ride home one night addllicoffer was unavailableto wark for significant segmentsf
the class period, either due to beingarceratedr due to working elsewher&ut just because
each Plaintiffhas unige drcumstances-as the Court would gectof evay putative class
member—that does namake his claimatypical or inadequately aligned with those of the class.
SeeRosario, 963 F.2cat 1017 (“Thefact that there is some factual variation among the class
grievances will not defeat a class actipgpnDe La Fuente v. Stokelyan Camplinc., 713 F.2d
225, 232 (7th Cir. 1983) The typicality requiremennay be satisfied @n if there are factual
distincions between the claims of the named plaintiffs and thbsther class membef; In re
Am. Med. Sys., Inc75 F.3d 1069, 1082 (6th Cir. 199@)picality ensures thathe
representative interests will baligned with those of the represented group, armulirsuing his
own claims, the namedaihtiff wil | also advance the interests of the class mesibeAs
previously statedRlaintiffs testified to sbstantially thesane experence and alleg¢hat
Defendantsdiscriminaed against theracwrding to the companwide hiring polides
Moreover, Defendantgirguments address the merits of Plaintdtsse and are best left for

summary judgmentMessney 669 F.3d at 828°All of this is at best an argumehiat some
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class nembet claims will fail on the merits if and when damages are decided, a fact tjgnera
irrelevant to the district coud decisioron class certification.”)

Defendants also argue thgpicality is not met whenit appears that a major focus of the
litigation will be on a defense unique to a named plainti@drence v. Eagle Foodtfs., Inc,
No. 93 C 4862, 1994 WL 445149, at *10 (N.D. lll. Aug. 16, 1994). Defendagtse that
Zollicoffer has insurmountableredibility issueghat will overhiadow his common claim and
that Greefs bias against MVP will be a majosige in the caseThe® arguments overlap
substantially with Deferghts’argumentsegardingPlaintiffs’ adeqiacy as class representatives
and theCourt addresses thelelow. SeeWilliam B. Rubensteinl Newterg on Class Actions
§ 3:28 (5th ed2019 (typicality and adequzy of classrepresentativesra closely related
inquiries). Because the named Plaintiffdaims areypical of thoseof the chss at large, the
Court findsPlaintiffs have met thisequirement.

E. Adequacy of Class Representatives

To show that they are adeqgeaepresentatives of the class, Plaintiffsshaihow that:
1) they do not have interests that timt with the clas as a wble, 2)they are'sufficiently
interested in the caselwome to ensure vigorous advocacy,” andl&s counsel is competent
ard willing to vigorously litigate the case&Cavin v. Home Loan Citr., Inc236 F.R.D. 387, 393
(N.D. 1ll. 2006). Defendants argue thRtaintiffs have mehone of these prongs.

1. The Named Plaintiffs

First, Defendantsargue hatPlaintiffs’ interests are not aligdevith those of thelass
becausehey have not shown that they are part of tless and suffered the same injuSee
AmchenProd., Inc. v. Windsgib21 U.S. 591, 625-26 (1997 A class representativaust be

part of the class arighossesshe same imrest and suffer the same injurgsthe class membefs
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(citation omittedl). They contendhat Green anddlicoffer are na in the class because they
stopped seeking woikt MVP.

Caselaw suggests that plaintiffs in faikicehire lawsuits must show thdtey actually
sought the emplayert in questiorso that they can represent the class objgtlicants.See
Culverv. City of Milwaukeg277 F.3d 908, 912 (7th Cir. 2002) (plaintiff who sought work with
police department was inadequate because he “ordg@erfunctoryefforts .. . toobtain a job
apdication,” had no interest in injunctive ref or money damageand conceded that his claim
was moot)Smith v. Merchants & Farmers Bank of W. Helena, Ak4 F.2d 982, 984 (8th Cir.
1978)(plaintiff, who hadimited cortact with emplogr bank andvas*not certain that she even
completed the applation process,ivas inadequate representative for class that included current
employees) abrogated on other grounds Bardner v. Westinghouse Broad. C437U.S. 478
(1978). This does not meaas Defendants suggettat Plaintiffs mustlemonstrate a certain
level of tenacity beyond what they have already shown. Plaintiffs have all alteqjeddy
visited the Cicero office more than orexed were deniedork on seveal occasions Defendants
have not explained whthese factsvould tale the namedPlaintiffs outside of the proposed class
because atheyhave to show is that they were denied worlona or moreoccasions écause of
Defendants’ discrinmatary policy. Doc. 700 at 38.

SecondDeferdants argue thatollicoffer cannotact as diduciary of the class because
of hiscriminal history The Court disagrees. “Rule 23 contemplates the district court
should insist on, a conscientious representgiamtiff.” Rand v. Monsanto Ca26 F.2d 596,
599 (7th Cir. 1991)pverruled on other groundsy Chapman v. First Index, Inc/96 F.3d783
(7th Cir. 2015). The concern is that “the representative and couagddartempted to sell out

the class fobenefits to themselves.ld. Here, Defendantseek to impeacBollicoffer's
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credibility as if this were a trial on the merits. 68t couts haw rejected theantention that a
propcsed representative is inadequageduse of prior unrelated unsavory, unethical, or even
illegal conduct.” Rubensteisuprg 8 3:68 (collecting cass). To the degree courts have
allowed challenges on this bssihey are @én relevant tahe litigation. Id. Defendants, for
examplecite Davidson v. Citizens Gas & Cok#ility, where theplaintiffs allegel the defendant
employer administered a discriminatory test that had a disparate impact on AfricainafAsm
promotians and hires238 F.R.D. 225, 22¢5.D.Ind. 2006). The court found two of the
plaintiffs with multiple criminalconvictionswereinadequate representatives besatihe
convicions themselvewould have barred their consideration for employmeétit Citizens,
regardles of their test scorés Id. at 229-30. Here, by coast,MVP did not requireriminal
history checkss part of the hiring process. Additionallyllcoffer’'s pastrimesarenearlyall
more thara decadeld. His armedobbery conwtion dates bacto 1986, when Zollico#r was
approximaely twentytwo years old, andil most recet conviction from 2011 was for a
misdemeanor domestic battery. It is unlikélgt any of these convictions are admissible at trial.
See Unted States \Byrd, 771 F.2d 215, 219 (7th Cir. 1985)ffeft is arguably not a crien
involving dishonesty or fak statemerit); United States v. Sth, 181 F. Supp. 2d 904, 909
(N.D. lll. 2002) (defendant’s convictions for robbery, burglanyd theft wee not admissile
becauséthegovernment ha[d] not shown that any of them involvéskfatatements or acts of
deceit beyond the basic crime itSelf

Third, Defendantargue thaPlaintiffs’ deposition testimony demonstratthey are
inadequately knowledmbleabout the cas® berepresentaties. See Randd26 F.2dat 598-99
(“Although a representative plaintiff n@@ot immerse himself in the case. the named

plaintiff must have some camitment to the case, so thaethepresentat®’ in a class awn is
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not a fictive concept.”) Grean testifiedthat he had never heard of GSB and that he did not know
he wa s1ing them. Zollicoffer testified that he hadho basis for suing 8B and that heid not
know whatit meantto be a class representatividditionally, Defendants contend that evidence
coming out of Hunt's December 20, 2020 and February 16, 2020 tepakmonstratethat
the named Platiffs are“mere figureheadsand inserted into the case to litigate claims driven by
counsel. Doc. 775 at 12.

Defendants agaiexaggerate the import of Plaintiffs’ statemeritss not cleafrom
Zollicoffer’'s depodion, for examplewhetherhis stakments werenerelya concssionthat he
had no personal knowledge ab@®B’sconduct in the &gedly discriminatory hiring paty, or
whether he was completely unaware aliaintiffs’ grounds for suing the bakeryVhile Green
and Zollicoffer shoud hare known—and hopefully know by nowwhy theyaresuing GSB,
their lack of krowledge in this resgzt isat least mijated by the fact théhey never worked at
GSB, and so have no personal knowledge about GSB’s conduct. The Coestpadythem to
testfy to their personal interactions with MVPThey seek to substartedher allegatons of a
companywide discrimnatory hiring policythrough othewitnesses The Court als does not
find it appropriate tomport any concerns about Hunt dmid interadbns with counsel to the two
remaining named Plaintiffs

Although te Court igroubled byPlaintiffs’ lack of knowlede regarding the legal
processtheir knowledgen this respecis mostlyrelevant as a means to demdrate their
interest in the casand ensuring that they wiligorously pursue their claimsSeeCavin, 236
F.R.D.at393. This showing is “not flicult.” Ocampo v. GC Servs. Ltd. P’shigo. 16CV-
9388, 2018 WL 6198464, at *9 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 28, 2018). Named plaintiffs have a “modest”

burden to demonstrate “[a]n understanding of the basic facts underlying the slamnesgeneral
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knowledge, an@ willingness and ality to participate in discouy.” Cavin 236 F.R.Dat 394.
Even if Plaintiffs inthis case would ideally have a l@ttinderstanding of their role, their actions
reflect that they are adedeaclass representativeBlaintiffs have complied with what has been
required of them foseveral years. They have completed discovery requabtsitted to
multiple depositios, completed interrogatories, and stayed in attntath their cainsel. This
indicates thathey are intnt on pursuing their claims, and that is enough in this Gse.Ries v.
Humana Health Plan, IncNo. 94 C 6180, 1997 WL 158337, at *9 (N.D. lllamM31, 1997)
(finding plaintiff who “failed to ®nvey a grasp dhe class eion process in her depasib” was
nonetheless an adequate representative betthessurt [wals pesuaded that Ms. Ries
possesse[d willingness to participate, when necesgsan the lawsuit).
Additionally, what constittesadequate r@psentation Wi depend on the circumstaes

of the specific case. IBggleston v. Chicago Journeymen Plumbers’ Local Union No. 120, U.
the Seventh Cirdgupointed to the Supreme Court’sail@on inSurowitz v. Hilton Hotels Corp.
383 U.S. 363, 370 (1968)here“the named plaintiff did not understand her complaint at all,
could not explain the statements in it, had little knowledge of what theitamasuabout, did not
know the defendantsy name, noeven the naturef the misconduct of the defendants.” 657
F.2d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 1981). Themtiff in Surowitz an immigrant from Poland, had relied
on her sonn-law to help hefile a class aabn comgaint against a corporation foecurities
fraud. The Suprem€ourtexplained thater limited knowledge was natbasis to summarily
dismiss the case

The basic prpose of the Federal Rules is to administer justice

through fair trials, not througsunmairy dismissals as necessary as

they may be on @asion. These rules werdesigned in large part

to get away from some of the old procedural booby traps which

common-aw pleaders could set to prevent unsophisticated litigants
from ever having theiray incourt. If rules of procedure worés
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they shoudl in an honestral fair judicial system, they not only

permit, but should as nearly as possible guarantee that bena fid

complaints be carried to an adjudication on the merits. Rule 23(b),

like the otler cwil rules, was written to further, not defeat trels

of justice
Surowtz, 383 U.S. at 373The Sevath Circuit noted thaSurowitzwas an etteme caséut that
it illustrated“the flexibility and broad area for the exercise of the trial ¢eadmma snse and
good judgmentin assedag the adeqacy of class representatis. 657 F.2dat 896. Similary,
the Court idoathto deny class certificatiom this caséecause one of the Plaintiffs could not
describehis role as class representatovea nowwithdrawn named Plaintiff appesd
uninformed as teaase proceedingparticularly when there hadready been a complete
substitution otheclass representativesid thditigation is now nearingts seventh yearSee
Smith v. Adentist Mdwest Heah, No. 16 C 7606, 2018 WL 948600, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 20,
2018)(“[A] putativeclassrepresentativean be adequate without beipgrfect or thebest
representative). For theseeasons, the Court finds that Green and Zolfer are adequate
class rpresentatives.

2. Class Counsel

Under Rule23(a)(4)and 23(g), the Court must also scrutinize the adequacy of class

counsel Similar to the class representative®jnsel must show théthey would posecute the
casen the interest of the clas. . rather than just in their inteests asawyerswho if successful
will obtain a share of any judgment or settlement as compensation for their eftorestive
Montessa Learning @rs. v. Ashford GeadtLC, 662 F.3d 913, 918 (7th Cir. 201(tWe and
other ourts hare often remarked thincentive of lass counselni complicity with the

defendant’s counsel, to sell out the class by agreeing with the defendawinoned that the

judge approve a settlement involving a meager recovery for thehiiagenenss compasation
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for the lawyerd.]”) . The Gurt must also scrutinize counsel’s competer@eeisz v. Household
Bank (lllinois), N.A, 176 F.3d 1012, 1013 (7th Cir. 1998purt must assesshe clasdawyer’s
competencs.

Plaintiffs are currently represted bylead counsel Christoph#Villiams of the National
Legal Advocacy Network and coeunselloseph Sellers, Shaylyn Cochran, and Harini
Srinivasan, of Cohen Milstein Sellers & Toll P.L.L.CC@hen Milsteifi). Defendantargue
that class counsel isadequatemostly pointing to the conduct of lead counsel Christopher
Williams, including: 1) prior discovery violations; glissed deadlines following the Court’s
recommendation of sanctior®®;allegediack of candarand 4)missteps duringtigation,
extending to potential ethical viaions 2!

Defendants level serious@rsations against Williams, which the Court agreestaill
guestion Williamsability to represent thelass. IndeedheCourt has already sanctioned
Williams for discovery lapse SeeDocs. 680, 692. Although JudgerK declinedDefendants’
requesto disqualify Williams in connectiowith that sarctions motionand determiedthat
monetary sanctions should suffice to penalize Williamsdater future discovery failures or
litigation misonduct, he noted that the Court couleeigh Williams's conductin discovery as a
factor in evéuating his fitness to serve as class couhdgbc. 680 at 29 Despite this warning,
Williams has continued to make missteps in this and relatgdilin. For examplesimilar to

his treatment cBanchez phone, one of thessueaunderlying the imposition of monetary

21 Defendantslao argue that Plaintiffsmproperly rely on the notebooks that the Court previously barred
from further usen this litigation. Defendastmisconstrue th€ourt’s previous OrderThe Court

excluded excerpts from the notebookattSanchez disclosed, asypkcifically advised thatgiven the
overlap in documents MVP proded in discovery andocuments Sanchgzovided to Plaintiffs, the
evidence subject texclusion shouldbe limited toinformation and documents not otherwise produced in
discovery. Doc. 680 at 32. Sanchez disclosed the dispatchers’ practice of keepéfgpois with a list

of laborers to c&in her declaration and in hdeposition testimonyDefendats also disclosed the
practicein theirown disclosures So, Plaintiffsreference to this practice was not improper.
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sanctionsit recently came to light thaVilliams did not fully review Hunt’s cell phone for
discoverable evidence and instead onbydpiced one videfrom that phonePlaintiffs respond
that Defendants did naake any steps to obtain the cell phone, but Plaintiffs had the affirmative
obligation to produce its contents given that, at the time they produced the video, Haiinetcem
a naned Plaintiff. The Court also rtes the potential ethical concerns arising ftbmloan
agreenentWilliams enteredvith Hunt to cover the monetary sanctions Judge Kim imposed on
Hunt personally and Williamsadmitted failure to communicate this arramgnt to Zollicoffer

and Green.eelll. R. Prof'l Conduct 1.8(e) (A lawyer shall not provide financial assistance to
a client in connection with pending or contemplated litigation, except(tha:lawyer may
advance court costs and expenses of titbgathe repayment of which may be tiogent on the
outcome of the matter; and @)awyer representing an indigent clierdyrpay court costs and
expenses of litigation on behalf of the clieht. The Court recognizes that the agreement
between Hunt anwilliams specifies thaHunt remans personally liable for the entirety of the
sanction amount, but, given the discrepancy between the ledger presented to the Court, which
reflects that Hunt made two payments toward the sanction, andsHestimony tathe has only
evermade one paymerthe Court questiorthe arrangemerand Williams forthrightness with

the Court concerning the issu€he Court alsaloes not condoné/illiams’ behavior in allowing
Hunt toleawe hisin-progresgeposition in th&/eePakmatterand hisapparent lack of
communicatiorwith Hunt about the status of the case wkilentremained a name@laintiff.
Although ‘[n]ot everyethical breach justifies the grave option of denying class certification
Reliable Money Order, Inc. WIcKnight Sales C9.704 F.3d 489, 498 (7th Cir. 2013), the Court
finds that the ethical concerns surroundWijliams’ arrangement with Hunt and his failure to

disclose this arrangement to the remaining named Plairmiffgaled with Williams other
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discowery lapses and litigation miscondumter theseven years this case has been pending
create“serious doubt that counlseill represent the class loyallyCreative Montssori 662
F.3d at 918see alsdreliable Mong Order, 704 F.3d at 499 (J]nethical ®nduct, not
necessarily prejudicidb the class, nevertheless raisesaiols doubt’ about the adequacy of
class counsel when the m@sduct jeopardizes the cosrtbility to reach a just drproper
outcome in the casg. Thereforethe Court declingto appoint Williams as class cowgis

But the Courts concerns about Williarhadequacy as class coundelnot extend to his
co-counselffrom Cohen Milstein Although Defendants contend that the Court should consider
counsel collectively, they do not syiically raise conerns about the adequacy of counsel from
Cohen Milstein or explain why the Court should impétd#liams’ conduct tohis cocounsel.
Given the Court’s experience with this case, the Court does not find it ajgpedprdo so and
does nbhave the same concerns abihetadequacy of Cohen Milsteio loyally represnt the
classas it does with Wilams. The Court thereforéinds Plaintiffs have met the adequacy of
representation requiremenith CohenMilstein servingas class counsét The Court expects
counselfrom Cohen Milsteinto faithfully represent the named Plaintiffs acldss members in
accordance with their obligations as class counsel.

F. Rule 23(b(3) Requirements

Defendantargue that Plaintiffs hanot met theaquirenents for certification under
Rule 23(b)(3), which requires that thiaé court find[]that the questions of law or fact common
to class members predominate over any questidediaf) only individual members, and that a
classactionis superior tamther aailable methods for fairly and efficrgly adjudicating the

controversy.” me of the relevant topiésclude:1) whetherindividual class membersave an

22 In supplemental briefing, Plaintiffs also note ttrair counsel willlikely seek to add addition&cal
coursel inpreparation for trial.
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interest in individal controlover the litigation2) whetherthere s otheditigation concerning
the ame controversy, 3) the advantages and disadgasof assemblinglaims in one judicial
forum, and 4) problemthatmightarise in managinthe case aa class actionFed R. Civ. P.
23(b)(3).

Defendants argue common quesisowill not prelominate m this case because theetrof
fact will have to consider a litany of individual questions before even reaching qsestio
regarding the discriminatory hiring policy. Defendants argue these individualansestciude
when the Bborer sought wrk at MVP, vhat shifts they were Ming to work, whether GSB
needed employees on those particular days, and whethebdnertaeven qualified for positions
at GSB. But Defendants futamentally misunderstaritde predominance inquiryThe
predominanceequirement dmands that theropo®d classs “sufficiently cohesive to warrant
adjudication by representatiénAmchem521 U.S.at623. Individual questions need not be
absent The inquiry simplyasks Whether the common, agaggationenabling, isses in the cse
are more prealent or importantitan the norcommon, aggregation-defeating, individual issues.
Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Bouaphak&3d7 U.S----, 136 S. Ct. 1036, 1045 (201@)tation omitted).
Here,Defendants’ list ofindividualized questionareactualy secondary télaintiffs’ comman
claims. If the trier of fact determines tlize¢fendang hada discriminatorypolicy against hiring
African Americars—something that Piatiffs mainly seek to prove through the testimony of
former MVPemployees anBr. Bendick’s analysis—the individualizd questions related to
when the laborer sought work at MVP, whether they were qualified, and whether Gl nee
laborers on that particular dayill largely bearon damages Similar to hie defendant iButler
v. Sears, Roebuck & C@Butler 11"), Defendants think[] that predominance is determined

simply bycounting noses: that is, determining whether there are more common issues or more
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individual issues, regardle®f rdative importaice” 727 F.3d 796, 801 (74@ir. 2013). “But
predominanceequires a qualitative assessment too; it is not bean couhtidg None of the
guestions that Defendants cite are central to asseRsimgiffs’ main contention. As th
Sevetth Circuitnoted inButler Il “the fad thatdamages are not identical acrossadss
members should not preclude class certificatiotherwise defendants would be able to escape
liability for tortious harms of enormous aggregate magnitude but so widely distributed as not to
be remediablé individual suits.” Id. This is one ofhe central justifications for assertiag
class actiondr damages: to aggregate small individual claims that would not be justiigch
class member sought tdidlatethe case by hiself. Mace v. Van Ru @dit Cap., 109 F.3d 338,
344 (7th Cir. 199) (“The policy at the very core of the class action mechanism is to overcome
the problem that small recoveries do naiide the incentive for any individual to bring a solo
action proseating his or her rightsA classaction solves this problem by aggating the
relatively paltry potential recoveries intoraething worth someong{usually an attorney’s)
labor.”).

Defendants next amtend that class members likely havaratividual inteest in
controlling thelitigation to avoid the distractiorthatthe named Plaintiffs bring to the case. As
already discused, the named Plaintiffs are adequate representativiegalsoquestionable
whether there arether classnembes with anappeite to initiate their ow lawauit at this stage
given thecost/benefit analysiand the passage of timBefendants offermargument, and the
Court does not think it likely, that a class member’s individual recovery wouldyjtisticoss
of litigation. See Amchend21 U.S. at 616'T h[e] interest [in individuatontrol] can be high

where the stake of each member bulks large and his will and ability to takeftamself are
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strong; the interest may be no more than theoretic where the individuaisssakemall as to
make a separataction impracticable (titation omitted))

Defendants also contend that the class adiammanageableecause it will degenerate
into several indivdualized trials and because damages are nogptikk to proof on alasswide
basis unde€omcasiCorp. v. Behrend569 U.S. 27 (2013)As alreadyexplaired, Plaintiffs
central contentions will predominatetime licbility phase of the casand the Court can conduct
individualized inquires to determine damagésecessary Wal-Mart, 564 U.Sat 366—67 (in
cases keging discriminatory employment praotis, courts “must usually conduct additional
proceedings . .to determine the scope of individual relief” @rethe burden of probshifts to
the employer who “will have the right to raise any indual affirmative @fenses it mapave”
(citing Teamstes, 431 U.S. at 361)). Defendants reliance&Camcasis misplaed Comcast
dealt with an antitrust suit wheedamags flowed fromtheredwed competitionn the
marketplace.569 U.Sat 35. TheSupeme Court held tit the plaintifs neededo show that
their methodology for calculatindamages on a classwide basgas tied to theitheory of
liability. “If the model does not evexitempt to do that, it cannot possibly establish that
damages arsuseptible of measurement across #ntire class for pposes of Rule 23(b)(3).
Id. Defendants attempt to interptats to mean that every class action must lseetilbe to
proof ofdamages on a classwide basan argument that éhSeventh Circuitand othercircuits,
haverejected. SeeButlerll, 727 F3dat 801 (“It would drive a stake through the heart of the
class action device, in cases in which damages saughrather than @ injundion or a
declaratory judgment, to require that every mends the class have identical daread); In re
DeepwatemHorizon 739 F.3d 790, 815 (5th Cir. 201@)N] othing inComa@stmandates a

formula for classwide measurentef danages in all casées.

63



Defendants contend that Plaintiffs’ proposal for a bifted&ial will violate the Seventh
Amendmenteexaminatiorclause Plaintiffs propose that the first phaseadfial be dedicated
to the question of liability, spedaflly:

1) Whether Defendants have engaged in a pattern or practice of
discrimination;
2) WhetherDefendants arpint employers ad/or MVP is an
agent of GSB within the meaning of Section 1981,
3) Whether Defendantg€onduct meets the standard for an award
of puntive damages; and
4) Wheter afour-year limitations period governs Plaintiffs’
Section 1981 laim.
Doc. 700 at 57. Plaintsfpropose that damagasd any other relief can be determined in a
separate proceedjraccording to any number of different procedyinduding individwalized
hearingsor the use of a formulaic calculation for damagBefendants arguthatin the casef
a second jury, sworn solely for the purpose of determining damages, the seconiglirfynd
that a class member is not entitk® danages based dns wak availability, willingness to do
certain types of work, or a number of otlfectors. They ayue that this would niify the first
jury’s finding of liability, since these questisarerelevant to both determinations. Camyrto
what Defendantsontend, the individual questionggardingthe date eacblass nemkber sought
work and whether therevere jobs at GSB avaible on those particular days wdrgely bear on
the questioof damages. Defendants citeMatter of Rhoe-Poulenc Rorer, Incwherethe
Seventh Circuit invalidated the district court’s plarcertify a class etionwhere theifst jury
would solely consider the question of negligence for the class and could go on to decide
additional issues only with resggdo the named plaiffts. 51 F.3d 1293, 1297 (7th Cir. 1995).
If it found for the paintiffs on the question of negligeg “individual membes of the class

would then file individual tort suits in statacfederal district courts around the nation and

would use the spediaerdct, in conjunction with the doctrine of collateral estoppeblbck
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relitigation of the issu®f negligence.”ld. The subsequent cases would ehateneededo
consider questns of comparative negligence and proximate causaiigsues that necesdsri
overlapped with the first jury’s determination and migate involved findings that contraclied
the first jury’s verdictgor the named plaintiffsid. at 1303. The procedure Rhone-Poulents
entirely different from tk procelure Plaintiffspropose. As thRhone-Poulencourt noted, a
reexaminatiorproblem®is not inherent in bifurcatim” 1d. The caselaw emsing bifurcated
proceedings for individualized damage assesdmshould make it clear that Plaintiffs’ posal
for a separate damages predmgwill not violate the Seventh Amendmdrgcause theesond
trier of fact would not ned to reconsider the n&ral question of liability.SeeWal-Mart, 564
U.S.at366—67Butlerll, 727 F.3dat801. For thesgeasonsthe @urt finds thaPlaintiffs have
metthe requirements under Rule 23(b)(3).

G. Ascertainability

Lastly, Defendants argubat the class is not ascertainable because it is vague, includes
people who receivedork assignments to clients other than GSB, laechuse the proposed
class extenslbeyond the statute of limitationd. class must be ckely defined according to
objectve criteria. Mullins v. Direct Digital, LLC 795 F.3d 654, 657 (7th Cir. 2013j).cannot
be vague or subjectived.

The court inVee Pakconsideed a motiond dismissnvolving essentiallyidentical
allegatiors of racially discriminatory hiring picticesthrough staffng agencie$® No. 12CV-
09672, 2017 WL 6733688, at *4 (N.DL.IDec. 20, 2017). The proposed clasVéae Pakvas
defined as‘all African Americans whaought a work assignment through [the terapy
staffing agency] and were othase eligible to work at Vee Pdlut, on one or more occasion,

were not assigned or hired to wddkring the class period].1d. at *2. Thecourtfound that the

Z 7ollicoffer is anamed plainff in the case and MVP was one of the defersla
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term “otherwse eligible” was too vague aetiminaiedthe phrase from the class definition.
Similarto the jobs at GSB, théee Palcourt reasoned that therm was “essentially
meaningéss” because “there were no qualificationshierVee Pak jobs atssue,” and tht “even
if some minimal eligibility requiemerns did exist, a class member’sgébility to work at Vee
Pak cold be determined at the remedial stage of the litigdtide. at *4. The same reasoning
applies to this @sebecauseherewereessatially no prerequisites necessarywork at GSB
and mnimal differences imualifications,such agrior experiencegan ke handled in theecond
phase of a trial. Thus, the Court finthatDefendants’ vagueness concerns are rézadaly
eliminating tle phrass“otherwise eligible”and ‘otherwise quafied” from the class definitian
Deferdants’ argument regarding laborers who were assigned to different platsemas
already been addressed. Defendants’ remaining argument regarditeguteed limitations is a
closer questionPlaintiffs previouslyasked the Court to amend the clasinitéon in their fifth
amended comipint by expanding the class period from two years to four years, which the Court
allowed while noting that the appropriate limitations period would depend on how MVP
conducted its sigin procedures Doc. 320 at 7—8Plaintiffs’ theory is that signing in ateh
Cicero office consttuted a contract of employment because it pldabdrerswvithin MVP’s pool
of laborersavailable for assignments. By stiegrPlaintiffs away from assignmerdas GSB,
Plaintiffs contendha Defendantsnterfered with an establishedrtractual relatioship and not
just the potential formation @ contact with GSB. Failureto-hire claims, which implicate the
formation ofa contract, borrow the applicablatste of limitations from sttelaw, which in this
case is two yearsSeeRainey v. United Pagt Serv, Inc., 543 F. App’x 606, 608 (7th Cir. 201L3
(“Rainey alleges that unlawful discriminatipreventedhe making of an employment contract,

and for clams of discrimination in himg aising in lllinois, a tweyear statute of limit&ns
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governs.”) If Plaintiffs’ theory is correct, however, thelaims would carna fouryear statute
of limitationsunder28 U.S.C. 81658a). Id. (four-year statute dimitations for§ 1981 clains
“applies only to claims based on conduct occuréfigr the formation of an employment
contract”).

Plaintiffs and Defendants offer little argumemithis issueand there is no controln
caselaw on the topidCf. Huntv. Pes. Staffing Grp.LLC, No. 16CV-11086, 2018 WL
1014513, at *7 (N.D.Il. Feb. 22, 2018) (dtermining whether temporary laborers enteredanto
contract with MVP by signing in and requesting work assignments is afansive inquiry that
cannot baesoled on amotion to disnss), Pruitt v. Pers. Staffing GrpLLC, No. 16 C 5079,
2017 WL 1128457, at *2 (N.D. lll. Mar. 23, 2018afne¢. Plaintiffs assure the Court that this
issue can be decided by the trier of fadeting the liability phase of éhtrial But deciding which
statute of limitations applies a question ofaw central toclasscertification. SeePhillips v.
Asset AcceptancelC, 736 F.3d 1076, 1081 (7th Cir. 2013) (statute of limitations is a question
of law that implicates compd®n of class anevhether itis appropriate to maintain the suit as a
classacion). The Court glects the parties to submit additional briefiligiited to no more than
ten pages each, on the question of whether MVPddrancontract with job seekersavkigned
in and filled out an apjeation for work assignments at the Ciceféice. In particula, it would
be helpful for the Court to review agy of the application form that job seekers were required
to complete.Because this question will deterneithe scope of the class, tGeut reserves
adopting a final class definition pending regmn of this issue.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasms, the Court grants Plaintiffs’ motion for class certificaf@®0].

The Court appoints James Zollicofiend Norman Green as class repreatives and Joseph M.
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Sellers, Shaylyn Cochran, and Harini Srinivasan of Cohen Milstein Sellers & Tdl.C. as

class counselThe Courtreserves definigthe class pending additional brigfiby the parties.

The patiesshouldfollow this briding schedule: Plaitiff’s brief is due by May 4, 2020 and
Defendantsbrief is due by Jung, 2020. The Court sets a status date of July 8, 2020, where the

Court will provide a ruhg defining the class.

Dated:March 31, 2020 8’ m

SARA L. ELLIS
United States District Judge
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